Aus dem Institut für Anatomie II der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

Direktorin: Univ.- Prof. Dr. Charlotte von Gall

Interaction of A β dimers with the serotonin receptor 5-HT1 β influences adult neurogenesis in tgD mice

Dissertation

Zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Medizin der medizinischen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

vorgelegt von Tanaz Faramarzi 2024

Als Inauguraldissertation gedruckt mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf.

gez.:

Dekan/in: Prof. Dr. med. Nikolaj Klöcker Erstgutachter/in: Prof. Dr. Charlotte von Gall Zweitgutachter/in: Prof. Dr. Carsten Korth Für meine Eltern

Maryam Norouzi Bahar und Reza Faramarzi

Danke für eure ewige Unterstützung

Zusammenfassung

Die Alzheimer-Krankheit ist mit mehr als 50 Millionen Betroffenen weltweit die am weitesten verbreitete neurodegenerative Erkrankung. Sie stellt daher eine enorme medizinische, finanzielle und soziale Belastung für die Betroffenen und ihre Familien dar. Seit kurzem ist bekannt, dass lösliche Amyloid-beta-Dimere und -Oligomere stärker mit der Manifestation und dem Schweregrad der Erkrankung korrelieren als unlösliche Aggregate. Darüber hinaus werden strukturelle Veränderungen im Gehirn der Patienten zunehmend mit einer Dysregulation von Neurotransmittern wie Acetylcholin, Dopamin und Serotonin in Verbindung gebracht. Es gibt starke Hinweise darauf, dass lösliche Oligomere die Kognition bereits vor dem Einsetzen der Neurodegeneration beeinflussen. TgD Mäuse produzieren durch Disulfidbrücken stabilisierte Amyloid-beta-Dimere, die bilden noch Anzeichen von neurofibrillären weder Plaques Tangles oder Neurodegeneration zeigen. Dennoch zeigen TgD Mäuse ein vermindertes räumliches Gedächtnis und nicht-kognitive Störungen wie Angst und depressives Verhalten, was den Symptomen der frühen Alzheimer-Erkrankung entspricht und mit einem Ungleichgewicht der Transmitter Serotonin, Dopamin und Acetylcholin einhergeht. Das TgD Mausmodell ist daher ideal, um funktionelle Veränderungen und mögliche therapeutische Ansätze für die Behandlung der frühen Alzheimer-Erkrankung zu untersuchen.

Unsere Experimente zeigen, dass Amyloid-beta zu einer signifikanten Reduktion neuronaler Vorläuferzellen in TgD Mäusen führt, während Überleben, Migration und Differenzierung unbeeinflusst bleiben. Diese Veränderung ist reversibel durch Modulation eines Serotoninrezeptors mit einem 5-HT1β-Rezeptorantagonisten, was uns vermuten lässt, dass Amyloid-beta-Dimere mit dem 5-HT1β-Rezeptor interagieren.

Weitere Forschung ist erforderlich, um die genauen Auswirkungen auf die Alzheimer-Krankheit und die damit verbundenen kognitiven Defizite zu untersuchen. Das Verständnis dieser Mechanismen könnte in Zukunft zur Entwicklung von therapeutischen Strategien zur Förderung der adulten Neurogenese und damit zur Verbesserung des Outcomes von Alzheimer-Patienten führen.

Т

Abstract

Alzheimer's disease remains the most common neurodegenerative disease, affecting more than 50 million people worldwide. This represents an enormous medical, financial and social burden for patients and their families. Recently, there has been increasing evidence that soluble amyloid beta dimers and oligomers, rather than insoluble aggregates, correlate more closely with the manifestations and severity of Alzheimer's disease and, critically, that structural brain changes are associated with dysregulation of neurotransmitters such as glutamate, acetylcholine, dopamine and serotonin, which modulate various cognitive and behavioural processes.

There is strong evidence that soluble oligomers affect cognition prior to neurodegeneration, supported by the tgD mouse model. TgD mice produce stable amyloid beta dimers without plaques, tangles or neuroinflammation. Nevertheless, tgD mice show reduced spatial memory and non-cognitive impairments such as anxiety and depression-related behaviours that mimic early AD symptoms associated with neurotransmitter imbalances in serotonin, dopamine and acetylcholine. TgD mice are therefore an excellent model to study functional changes and potential therapeutic treatments that target the early stages of Alzheimer's disease.

Our experiments show that amyloid beta dimers significantly affect the proliferation of neuronal precursor cells in the hippocampus of tgD mice, while sparing their survival, migration and differentiation. Modulation of 5-HT1β receptors partially reversed the progenitor cell reduction, suggesting an interplay between amyloid beta dimers and serotonin signalling.

П

Abbreviation

3, 3'-diaminobenzidine	DAB
5'Bromo-2'-deoxyuridine	BrdU
5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid	5-HIAA
5-hydroxytryptamine/ Serotonin	5-HT
acetylcholine	ACh
Alzheimer disease	AD
amyloid beta	Αβ
amyloid-β precursor protein	APP
behavioural and psychological signs and symptoms of	BPSD
dementia	
brain derived neurotrophic factor	BDNF
bromdesoxyuridin	BrdU
cyclic of adenosine monophosphate	сАМР
CNS	central nervous system
dentate gyrus	DG
deoxyribonucleic Acid	DNA
disease modifying therapeutics	DMT
dopamine	DA
doublecortin	DCX
Food and Drug Administration	FDA
gamma-aminobutyric acid	GABA
glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor	GDNF
glomerular layer	GL
glutamate	Glu
G-protein-coupled receptors	GPCRs
granule cell layer	GCL
Heinrich-Heine-Universität	HHU
hydrochloric acid	HCL

hydrogen peroxide	H2O2
intraperitoneally	i.p.
knockout	КО
lateral ventricle	LV
microtubule Associated Protein Tau	MAPT
microtubule-associated protein 2	MAP2
messenger ribonucleic acid	mRNA
natriumchloride	NaCl
neuronal nuclear protein	NeuN
neuronal stem/ progenitor cells	NPC
N-methyl-D-aspartat	NMDA
olfactory bulb	OB
parvalbumin-expressing interneuron-specific diphtheria	PC/DTR
toxin receptor	
phosphate buffered saline	PBS
polysialylated neuronal cell adhesion molecule	PSA-NCAM
presenilin-1	PS-1
rostral migratory stream	RMS
selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors	SSRIs
serotonin reuptake transporter	SERT
standard error of the mean	SEM
subgranular zone	SGZ
subventricular zone	SVZ
suprachiasmatic nucleus	SCN
swedish and cysteine mutation	Aβ-S8C
triple transgenic mice	3xTg-AD
tryptophan hydroxylase 2/	Tph2Pet1 CKO
serotonin transporter enhancer protein	
Phosphate buffered saline with Triton-X 100	PBS-T
tryptophan hydroxylase	ТРН

wild-type	WT
Zentrale Einrichtung für Tierforschung und	ZETT
wissenschaftliche Tierschutzaufgaben	

Contents

Z	usammenfassungI
A	bstract II
A	bbreviation III
1.	Introduction 1 -
	1.1 Alzheimer disease 1 -
	1.2 Adult neurogenesis 5 -
	1.3 Serotonin Signalling 13 -
	1.4 Interaction of A β and serotonin signalling 17 -
	1.5 Aim of the work 18 -
2.	Materials and Methods 19 -
	2.1 Animals 19 -
	2.2 Surgery and drug delivery 20 -
	2.3 BrdU injections 22 -
	2.4 Experimental groups 22 -
	2.5 Tissue processing 23 -
	2.6 Immunohistochemistry 23 -
	2.7 Immunofluorescence 24 -
	2.8 Imaging and quantification 25 -
	2.9 Statistical analysis 26 -
3.	Results 27 -
	3. 1 Proliferation of neuronal progenitors and neuroblast pool is reduced in tgD mice- 27 -
	3.2 Reduction of proliferating progenitors in tgD mice reversed by 5-HT1 β receptor antagonist
	- 27 -
	3.3 Survival of newborn progenitors is not affected by 5-HT1 β receptor antagonist 30 -

	3.4 Spatial distribution and migration of neuronal progenitors are not affected in tg	D mouse or
	by 5-HT1β receptor modulation	- 32 -
	3.5 Neuronal differentiation was not affected in tgD mouse or by modulation of	the5-HT1β
	receptor	- 33 -
4	. Discussion	- 36 -
5	. Bibliography	- 45 -

1. Introduction

1.1 Alzheimer disease

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most prevalent neurodegenerative disorder, impacting over 50 million individuals globally (reviewed by Ali & von Gall, 2022; Scheltens et al., 2021). The progression of AD increases proportionally with age, affecting individuals over the age of 65 and reaching its highest incidence around the age of 80 (Caroline dos Santos Picanço et al., 2018). Several risk factors have been associated with AD, including genetic factors (Scheltens et al., 2021) and increasing age, but also depression (reviewed by Kumar et al., 2021) and circadian disruption (Erik S. Musiek, 2017). AD accounts for the majority of dementias and is associated with major impairment of quality of life for patients and their relatives (reviewed by Levy et al., 1999). AD is classified into preclinical stages, mild cognitive impairment and AD dementia, which is characterised by substantial progressive cognitive impairment (reviewed by Kumar et al., 2021). In addition to cognitive symptoms, up to 90% of patients with dementia experience behavioural and psychological signs and symptoms (Cerejeira et al., 2012).

Non-cognitive symptoms are the main cause of significant loss of quality of life for patients and their families, increased costs of care and early institutionalisation of patients (Lyketsos et al., 2011; Petrovic et al., 2007). In AD, the behavioural and psychological signs and symptoms of dementia (BPSD) often manifest at a very early stage and continue to worsen in parallel with cognitive dysfunction (Mathys et al., 2018). BPSD are classified into four symptoms: hyperactivity (including agitation, aggression, euphoria, disinhibition, irritability and abnormal motor activity), psychosis (including hallucinations and delusions), mood liability (including depression and anxiety) and instinctual drift (including appetite disturbance, sleep disturbance and apathy) (Mathys et al., 2018; Milán-Tomás & Shapiro, 2018; Van Erum et al., 2018).

The symptoms tend to worsen with age (Holtzman et al., 2011), leading to progressive disability that ends with the inevitable death of the patient. Therefore, AD represents a major medical, financial and social burden for patients and their families (Brodaty & Donkin, 2009).

The underlying cause of the pathological changes in Alzheimer's disease remains unclear. Different insoluble and soluble forms of amyloid-beta (A β) have been shown to induce synaptotoxic effects and neurodegeneration. Recently, there has been increasing evidence that soluble A β dimers/oligomers, rather than insoluble aggregates, appear to be more correlated with AD manifestations and severity. Soluble A β oligomers can lead to synaptic defects, resulting in neurotransmitter uptake/release imbalances and altered synaptic plasticity, in addition to cytoskeletal abnormalities, changes in receptor cellular localisation and disruption; factors that can lead to cognitive deficits.

According to the amyloid cascade hypothesis (reviewed by Dennis, 1999), the formation of (soluble) Aβ dimers and oligomers is the first step in a cascade of events leading to the formation of (insoluble) Aβ aggregates/plaques, neurofibrillary tangles of hyperphosphorylated tau protein, neuroinflammation (gliosis), cerebral angiopathy, and extensive neuronal loss and gross atrophy of certain brain areas (e.g. hippocampus) (Fig.1). Neuroinflammation and gliosis in response to abnormal Aβ are associated with increased oxidative stress and production of other neurotoxic factors that exacerbate neuronal dysfunction (Mc Donald et al., 2010; reviewed by Sinvor et al., 2020). Importantly, the presence of soluble A β dimers and oligomers correlates more strongly with cognitive impairment in AD patients than the presence of insoluble aggregates/plaques (Shankar et al., 2008). Furthermore, soluble Aβ oligomers from AD patients affect memory as well as spine density and synaptic plasticity in rats (Jack et al., 2018). Thus, soluble rather than insoluble forms of Aß affect behaviour as well as structural and functional neuronal plasticity. It is crucial to define the biomarkers and behavioural profiles that best predict progression from preclinical to clinical stages of mild cognitive impairment and AD dementia (Dubois et al., 2016; Sperling et al., 2011).

Furthermore, for any curative approach, detection of the long preclinical phase of AD is extremely important, as early intervention before massive structural changes occur may offer the best therapeutic effect (Dubois et al., 2016; Sperling et al., 2011; Wirths, 2017).

However, the underlying pathomechanisms for the various symptoms of early AD are still unclear.



Fig. 1: Classification and impact of $A\beta O$ subtypes on memory function and amyloid plaque association

AβOs can be classified into two groups based on their temporal, spatial, and structural relationship to amyloid plaques and their impact on memory function. Type 1 AβOs are associated with memory impairment, whereas type 2 AβOs are not associated with memory impairment. Amyloid plaques are exclusively associated with type 2 AβOs (reviewed by Cline et al., 2018). Reprinted from, Cell Reports Vol. 11, (Liu et al., 2015), 'Quaternary Structure Defines a Large Class of Amyloid-β Oligomers Neutralized by Sequestration', pp. 1760–1771, under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives License (CC BY NC ND). Abbreviations: AβO – amyloid beta oligomers. Unfortunately, there is currently no effective treatment to delay the onset of AD or stop its progression (Holtzman et al., 2011). To date, two classes of drugs improve cognitive function in AD patients, including cholinesterase inhibitors and N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) antagonists, but they are not able to prevent or cure the disease. In addition, disease-modifying therapeutics (DMTs) that act on multiple neuropathological mechanisms are still in clinical trials because their efficacy has not been proven when administered in the advanced stages of AD (Breijyeh & Karaman, 2020). However, scientific advances in genetic, biochemical, and imaging techniques offer hope that if AD is diagnosed before the onset of overt pathological and cognitive changes, targeted treatments of the underlying pathogenesis may be effective (Holtzman et al., 2011).

Importantly, the functional and structural changes in the brain are associated with dysregulation of several neurotransmitter systems, including glutamate (Glu), acetylcholine (ACh), dopamine (DA) and serotonin (5-HT), which modulate various cognitive processes and behaviours (Francis, 2005). Drugs that improve the various symptoms of Alzheimer's disease target different neurotransmitter systems. ACh is an important transmitter in cognitive processes, and cholinesterase inhibitors are most commonly used to improve memory, attention, and language. Animal studies have suggested a link between the deficiency of cholinergic neurons and increased deposition of amyloid- β and tau pathology, which contributes to cognitive impairment (Ramos-Rodriguez et al., 2013). Specifically, targeted lesions of cholinergic neurons in the basal forebrain of rodent models with features of AD have been observed to result in increased deposition of A β and increased levels of hyperphosphorylated tau in the hippocampus and cortex (reviewed by Hampel et al., 2018).

Psychiatric symptoms are usually treated with antidepressants, anxiolytics and/or antipsychotics, while sleep disturbances are usually treated with benzodiazepines. Among others, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), the first line of treatment for major depressive disorder, are useful in the treatment of BPSD (Lyketsos et al., 2011; Milán-Tomás & Shapiro, 2018).

However, little is known about the pathomechanisms that lead to the disruption of the complex interplay of neurotransmitters in AD.

Many of these drugs have severe side effects. Therefore, better identification of the underlying mechanisms that cause the various cognitive and non-cognitive impairments in AD may help to improve therapeutic strategies (Martorana et al., 2010).

1.2 Adult neurogenesis

In the adult mammalian brain, the generation of new neurons continues throughout life and has important functional aspects. The process of adult neurogenesis involves a multi-step progression, including the proliferation of neuronal stem/progenitor cells (NSPCs), migration of neuroblasts, differentiation into mature neurons, and their functional integration into pre-existing neuronal circuits (Ali & von Gall, 2022). Adult neurogenesis occurs primarily in specific regions of the brain known as 'neurogenic niches'. These niches are found in the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the dentate gyrus (DG) of the hippocampus and the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the lateral ventricle (Ali & von Gall, 2022).

The SGZ is characterised by the proliferation of radial glia-like cells, commonly referred to as type 1 cells. The type 1 cells generate intermediate precursors, or type 2 cells, which then form neuroblasts expressing doublecortin (DCX), also known as type 3 cells. (Fig.3). The neuroblasts go through a short migration to their final destination within the DG, where they turn into premature neurons. Some neuroblasts survive and develop into granule cells. These cells express NeuN, a mature neuron marker and these cells integrate into the hippocampal neuronal network by extending dendrites into the molecular layer and axons toward the CA3 area (Fig.2) (Kempermann et al., 2015; Ming & Song, 2011). Newly created hippocampal neurons play a vital role in various functions like learning, cognition, stress response, and emotional regulation (Cameron & Glover, 2015; Toda et al., 2019).

Radial-like neural progenitor cells positioned along the ventricle wall in the subventricular zone (SVZ) become activated and proliferate. This proliferation generates transient amplifying cells, which then produce neuroblasts. In rodents, these neuroblasts migrate through the rostral migratory stream (RMS) with astrocyte support and guidance from neurotrophic factors. Eventually they reach the olfactory bulb (OB). There, premature cells develop into mature interneurons, crucial for olfactory bulb function (Ming & Song, 2011; Takahashi et al., 2018).



Fig. 2: Adult Neurogenesis in the Dentate Gyrus: five developmental Stages

Overview of the adult hippocampal neurogenesis process: '(1) activation of radial glia-like cell in the subgranular zone; (2) proliferation of non-radial precursor and intermediate progenitors; (3) generation of neuroblasts; (4) integration of immature neurons; (5) maturation of adult-born dentate granule cells' (reviewed by Ming & Song, 2011). Reprinted from Neuron, Vol. 70, Ming & Song, Author(s), 'Adult Neurogenesis in the Mammalian Brain: Significant Answers and Significant Questions', pages 687-702, 2011, with permission from Elsevier.



Fig. 3: Stages of Hippocampal Neurogenesis: Illustration of the Neurogenic Process

Type 1 stem cells, which resemble radial glia-like cells, self-renew and produce type 2 progenitor cells with similar markers but different morphology. Type 2 cells rapidly proliferate, express neuronal fate markers, and give rise to type 3 neuroblasts. These neuroblasts enter early survival and extend processes towards the molecular layer. Only mature and functionally connected newborn neurons persist during the late survival stage. The somata of granule neurons are shown in purple (reviewed by Kozareva et al., 2019). Reprinted from 'Born this way: Hippocampal neurogenesis across the lifespan' reviewed by Kozareva et al., 2019, published in Aging Cell/ Volume 18, Issue 5/ e13007, under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial No Derivatives License (CC BY 4.0 DEED).

The highly dynamic process of adult neurogenesis is influenced by several extrinsic and intrinsic factors in both neurogenic niches. These include an enriched environment (Leal-Galicia et al., 2007), social interaction (Holmes, 2016; Kempermann et al., 1997), physical exercise (Ma et al., 2017), ageing (Apple et al., 2017), stress (Du Preez et al., 2021), clock genes (Ali et al., 2019; Ali et al., 2015), various neurotransmitters (Platel et al., 2010) and diet (Poulos et al., 2017). While most studies on the effects on adult neurogenesis have been conducted in rodents, some studies in humans show promising results. Epidemiological studies suggest that increased physical activity in older adults is associated with a reduced risk of developing dementia. Neuroimaging studies confirm that seniors with higher aerobic fitness have larger hippocampal volumes and perform better on spatial memory tasks. Longitudinal studies of cognitively normal adults suggest that increased physical activity in earlier years is associated with greater grey matter volume in several brain regions, including the hippocampus. This may ultimately reduce the risk of cognitive impairment. Despite a large body of evidence supporting the efficacy of physical activity in reducing the risk of Alzheimer's disease, the exact mechanisms underlying this relationship remain unknown (reviewed by Yau et al., 2014).

In mice, neuroinflammation can have an impact on adult neurogenesis in two different ways. Acute inflammation has a proneurogenic effect that promotes suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN) repair. Chronic inflammation leads to long-term damage that has an antineurogenic effect (Fuster-Matanzo et al., 2013). Multiple signalling pathways, including Notch, Hedgehog and Wnt signalling, growth and neurotrophic factors, cytokines, transcription factors and epigenetic modifications, exert their modulatory effects on the different stages of adult neurogenesis (reviewed by Gonçalves et al., 2016).

Interestingly, region-specific neurogenesis is a key player in human neural plasticity (reviewed by Kempermann et al., 2018). It has been shown that increased levels of neurogenesis in mice lead to improved performance in learning and memory tasks. This suggests that newborn hippocampal neurons are essential for learning and memory (Braun & Jessberger, 2014; Toda et al., 2019).

The hippocampus plays a critical role in memory processes related to spatial and object recognition in rodents (Jessberger et al., 2009). Furthermore, the hippocampus is involved in pattern segregation, a function associated with the DG, which facilitates the formation of unique and non-overlapping memories from similar experiences (Nakashiba et al., 2012).

Further research indicates that adult hippocampal neurogenesis is involved in the stress response and emotional regulation in mice (reviewed by Cameron & Glover, 2015; Snyder et al., 2011).

Newly generated interneurons in the OB of the rodent brain are crucial in the process of olfactory discrimination (reviewed Takahashi et al., 2018). There is a hypothesis suggesting that adult neurogenesis may be a distinctive feature of Alzheimer's disease. The hypothesis is based on the reduced numbers of progenitor cells in the post-mortem SVZ of individuals with AD.

Altered neurogenesis is associated with several human pathologies and with agerelated decline in cognitive function. Adult neurogenesis is also reduced in several neurodegenerative diseases, including Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, and Huntington's disease (Terreros-Roncal et al., 2021). In general, age-dependent accumulation of A β correlates with impaired neurogenesis in most studies and is associated with cognitive deficits (Wirths, 2017). However, studies of adult neurogenesis in different animal models of AD show different results depending on the experimental conditions and do not fully explain the intracellular (tau-mediated) and extracellular (amyloid-mediated) effects of AD pathology in the stem cell niche (Winner & Winkler, 2015).

Mice with mutations in the A β precursor protein (APP) showed a reduction in adult neurogenesis in the hippocampus, with no change in neuronal fate determination (Donovan et al., 2006). In addition, triple transgenic mice (3xTg-AD) carrying three mutant genes (APP, presenilin-1 (PSEN1), and tau) showed age-dependent reduced proliferation in the DG that correlated with the accumulation of A β plaques (Rodríguez et al., 2008). Other data have shown that impaired adult hippocampal neurogenesis is an early hallmark of AD that precedes amyloid plaque deposition (Krezymon et al., 2013). In addition, studies suggest that $A\beta$ disrupts the homeostasis of several neurotransmitters in the hippocampus. $A\beta$ -mediated dysregulation of gammaaminobutyric acid (GABA) neurotransmission or an imbalance between inhibitory GABAergic and excitatory glutamatergic neurotransmission in the hippocampus affects the input to adult hippocampal neurogenesis in AD (Schinder & Morgenstern, 2009; Sun et al., 2009).

APP expression in NPCs also appears to play a critical role in impaired neurogenesis. Mice with an amyloid-rich environment and overexpression of APP in mature neurons, but not in NPCs, showed unaltered neurogenesis (Yetman & Jankowsky, 2013). While conventional APP overexpression was associated with decreased proliferation in several mouse models, APP knockout mice showed increased proliferation in the DG without affecting neuronal differentiation (Wang et al., 2014).

Exercise ameliorates deterioration and exposure to an enriched environment results in cognitive improvement and is associated with an increase in mature adult neurons, which had an increased number, dendritic length and number of projections to CA3 (Valero et al., 2011).

Alterations in neurogenesis occur at a very early presymptomatic stage of AD, suggesting that adult neurogenesis is an important part of AD pathology. In postmortem AD patients, neurogenesis markers were reduced in both neurogenic niches. In AD mouse models, altered neurogenesis has been reported to be associated with other AD-typical pathological features such as extracellular plaque deposition, behavioural deficits or neuroinflammation, and A β has been shown to play a toxic role in impaired neuronal progenitor proliferation (Table 1) (Wirths, 2017).

Stimulating endogenous neurogenesis through physical activity or an enriched environment may promote regenerative processes and modulate disease progression in early stages.

10

This mainly results from increased release of neurotrophic factors and enhanced angiogenesis, both of which facilitate increased neuro- and synaptogenesis (Wirths, 2017).

Transgenic mouse model	Mutation APP	Mutation PS1	Promoter	Plaque onset	Neuron Ioss	Neuro- genesis	Effect of PA/EE	Reference
							on NG	
Tg2576	Swedish	-	Hamster Prion Protein	12m	No	Ļ	Ţ	23,16
3xTg-AD	Swedish	M146V	Thy1 (APP, Tau) PS1 knock- in	6m	n.a.	Ţ	Ţ	17,24
APP _{751SL} /PS1KI	Swedish, London	M233T, L235P	Thy1 (APP) PS1 knock- in	2m	Ƴ(6m)	Ļ	\leftrightarrow	18, 25, 32, 33
Tg4-42	-	-	Thy1 (Aβ4- 41)	-	√(5m)	n.a.	Ţ	26, 35
TTA/APP	Swedish, Indiana	-	CaMKll <i>a</i> - TTA	< 6m	n.a.	\leftrightarrow	n.a.	27
APP-wt	-	-	PDGF	-	n.a.	Ļ	¢	37
Ts65Dn	trisomic	-	-	-	n.a.	Ļ	Ť	42, 41

Table 1: Different Alzheimer's disease mouse models with impaired neurogenesis

Adapted from Neurogenesis (Austin), Vol. 4, e1327002, Wirths, 2017, 'Altered neurogenesis in mouse models of Alzheimer disease'.

There is increasing evidence that the severity of AD pathology is not necessarily related to amyloid plaque burden. TgD mice carry the APP gene with the familial Swedish mutation (APP-K670N/M671L) and the A β dimer stabilising mutation (APP-S679C), termed the A β -S8C mutation. The Swedish mutation results in a 7-fold overexpression of APP, whereas the A β -S8C mutation stabilises soluble A β dimers through an intermolecular disulfide bridge.

The APP-Swedish mutation does not alter the A β 42/total A β ratio compared to wildtype APP. The results consistently show a constant A β 42/total A β ratio of 20% in tgD mice throughout their lifespan, similar to the levels observed in wild-type mice. Thus, the high levels of soluble A β dimers were not associated with deposition of insoluble A β or plaque formation (van Gerresheim et al., 2021).

Interestingly, no evidence of neuroinflammation in the form of activated glial cells, tau hyperphosphorylation, or neurodegeneration was observed in this mouse model. Furthermore, soluble forms of A β impair cognition in AD even before neurodegeneration (Cleary et al., 2005). This is supported by the tgD transgenic mouse model generated by Prof. Dr. Carsten Korth (Müller-Schiffmann et al., 2018) (Institute of Neuropathology, HHU), which produces a stable form of A β dimers without the formation of plaques, tangles or neuroinflammation. TgD mice show reduced cognitive functions such as spatial memory, non-cognitive impairments including anxiety, and reward and depression-related behaviours, mimicking early AD symptoms (Abdel-Hafiz et al., 2018; Müller-Schiffmann et al., 2018). Thus, tgD mice are an excellent model system to study functional changes and potential therapeutic treatments in early AD. Importantly, the behavioural changes in tgD mice are associated with an imbalance in neurotransmitter systems, including 5-HT, DA, and ACh. While the absolute levels of 5-HT and its metabolite 5-HIAA did not show significant differences between the tgD and wild-type mice, an important finding emerged regarding the ratio of 5-HIAA to 5-HT. In certain brain regions, such as the ventral striatum, hippocampus and amygdala of tgD mice, there was a significant decrease in the 5-HIAA/5-HT ratio (Abdel-Hafiz et al., 2018).

The release of these neurotransmitters can be modulated by presynaptic 5-HT1 β homo- and heteroreceptors. Since serotonin also modulates neurogenesis, we focused on the interaction between A β , 5-HT and neurogenesis.

1.3 Serotonin Signalling

Serotonin is a neurotransmitter that has a significant impact on multiple physiological functions far beyond mood regulation. It plays a role in several aspects of survival and general well-being, including food intake, reproductive processes, immune responses, neurological functions, and stress management (Leibowitz & Shor-Posner, 1986).

Serotonin is produced exclusively in the brainstem in clusters of cells called raphe nuclei. These nuclei are strategically positioned to send their axons throughout the brain (Hornung, 2003). As a result, the influence of serotonin is widespread and can affect the activity of various neural networks of the central nervous system (CNS).

The hippocampus is one of the brain regions with dense serotonergic innervation. Serotonin modulates the activity of the hippocampal neural network and thus learning and memory. Interestingly, serotonergic axons show a distinct gradient in the hippocampus. The highest concentration is found in the CA3 region, followed by the gyrus, while the CA1 region has the lowest density of serotonergic axons (Berumen et al., 2012).

Serotonin exerts its functions by interacting with receptors. These receptors fall into seven families known as 5-HT1-7 (Fig.4) (Leibowitz & Shor-Posner, 1986).

There is a remarkable diversity in the hippocampus alone, where 14 different subtypes of serotonin receptors are found (Berumen et al., 2012). This complexity of serotonin signalling in the hippocampus highlights the complexity of its role in brain function, particularly in adult neurogenesis (Alenina & Klempin, 2015). This suggests that the effects of serotonin go beyond simple cognitive regulation and extend to various cognitive processes such as memory, body temperature, respiratory rhythms (respiratory system), heart rate (cardiovascular function in general), eating and bowel motility (gastrointestinal system), ejaculatory latency and bladder control, muscle contraction/relaxation and locomotion, sleep, arousal, pain and sensation, emotions, and cognition (Berger et al., 2009; De Matos Feijó et al., 2011; Nichols & Nichols, 2008).

In addition, the diversity of serotonin receptors in this area is exciting for future research and promises to reveal new therapeutic targets (Narboux-Nême et al., 2008).



Fig. 4: Serotonin receptor subtypes

The 5-HT system consists of three main components: 5-HT3 Cys-loop receptors (highlighted in red), 5-HT GPCRs (highlighted in blue) and SERT (highlighted in green). These components are found both pre- and postsynaptically on 5-HT neurons and glial cells. Specific elements of the 5-HT system play critical roles in various CNS disorders, including anxiety and depression (SERT and 5-HT1A-C,2A-C,4,6,7), addiction (5-HT1A-B,2A,2C,3), migraine and nausea (5-HT1A,3), learning and memory (5-HT1A-B,2A,3,4,6,7), and obesity (5-HT1A,2A-C,4) (adapted from Schiøtt, 2016). Abbreviations: 5-HT – 5-hydroxytryptamine; CNS – central nervous system; GPCR – G protein-coupled receptor; SERT – serotonin reuptake transporter.

5-HT1β receptors are localised presynaptically on serotonergic neurons (autoreceptors) and postsynaptically (heteroreceptors) on non-serotonergic neurons (Abdel-Hafiz et al., 2018; Müller-Schiffmann et al., 2018).

Activation of 5-HT1 β autoreceptors inhibits 5-HT release and turnover rate (Barnes Nm, 1999; Moret & Briley, 2000), whereas activation of 5-HT1 β heteroreceptors decreases DA and ACh release (reviewed by Lesch & Waider, 2012; Rutz et al., 2006).

Serotonin signalling is induced by binding to serotonin receptors, which are classified into 7 families (5-HT1-7) based on their structure and functional properties and include 14 different members of the 5-HT receptor family. All are G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) except the 5-HT3 receptor, which is a ligand-gated ion channel (Amidfar et al., 2018). Serotonin receptors are distributed throughout the brain (Shukla et al., 2014). The 5-HT1 family of receptors are Gi/Go protein-coupled and exert inhibitory presynaptic and postsynaptic effects where they inhibit adenylyl cyclase and reduce cellular levels of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) (Amidfar et al., 2018).

5-HT1 β receptors are Gi-protein-coupled receptors whose messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) sequence is similar in humans and rodents and are widely expressed in the brain, with a high density in the basal ganglia. Involved in sleep, locomotor activity, body temperature regulation, sexual and cognitive functions. Mainly presynaptically distributed at the axonal terminal and thus may act as autoreceptors inhibiting serotonin release or heteroreceptors regulating the release of other neurotransmitters 5-HT1 β led to a decrease in serotonin release via reduction of cAMP and downstream processes or possibly by regulating serotonin transporter function (Tiger et al., 2018).

Heteroreceptors are primarily located on non-serotonergic neurons, such as glutamatergic neurons, but our understanding of their precise function remains rather limited (Tiger et al., 2018). However, recent evidence suggests that these heteroreceptors tend to exert inhibitory effects on neurotransmitter release and influence GABA, Glu, and ACh signalling.

In particular, their influence on DA signalling appears to be more complex, possibly because GABA release indirectly inhibits dopamine activity rather than acting directly. In parallel, serotonin turnover, as measured by the 5-HIAA/5-HAT ratio, is a critical parameter.

Long-acting selective antagonists of the 5-HT1β receptor have been observed to increase serotonin turnover in specific brain regions such as the hypothalamus and hippocampus (Stenfors & Ross, 2002).

Serotonin is believed to play a crucial role in regulating adult neurogenesis. This is because serotonin acts as a neurotransmitter and modulator of the CNS. Specifically, serotonin appears to be a key modulator of the proliferation and differentiation of neural stem cells, which are responsible for the production of new neurons (Brezun & Daszuta, 1999). Furthermore, there is evidence for the active involvement of different 5-HT receptor subtypes in facilitating cell proliferation and neurogenesis in the adult brain via activation of 5-HT transmission. The consistent stimulation of neurogenesis in both neurogenic zones via 5-HT1A activation, coupled with the detectable involvement of 5-HT2C receptors specifically in the SVZ and the OB, suggests the involvement of multiple neuronal circuits in the regulatory mechanisms controlling adult neurogenesis (Table 2) (Banasr et al., 2004).

Treatment	SGL	SVZ
5-HT 1A		
8-OH-DPAT (agonist)	↑	\uparrow
PCPA+8-OH-DPAT	Reversal/ PCPA	ND
5-HT 1B		
Sumatriptan (agonist)	\leftrightarrow	\downarrow
GR127935 (antagonist)	\leftrightarrow	\uparrow
PCPA+Sumatriptan	Reversal/ PCPA	No reversal/ PCPA
5-HT 2A/2C		
DOI (antagonist)	\leftrightarrow	\uparrow
Ketansenin (antagonist)	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow
5-HT/2C		
RO600175 (agonist)	\leftrightarrow	\uparrow
SB 206553 (antagonist)	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow

ND: not determined; \leftrightarrow : no change

 Table 2: 'Effects of agonists and antagonists of 5-HT receptors on cell proliferation in the two neurogenic zones of the adult brain' (Banasr et al., 2004).

Adapted from Neuropsychopharmacology (Springer Nature), Vol. 29, 450-460 (2004), Banasr et al., 2004, 'Serotonin-Induced Increases in Adult Cell Proliferation and Neurogenesis are Mediated Through Different and Common 5-HT Receptor Subtypes in the Dentate Gyrus and the Subventricular Zone' with permission from Springer Nature.

Furthermore, studies have demonstrated that serotonin can enhance the production of neurotrophic factors, including brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), which facilitate the development of these newly formed neurons (Leschik et al., 2022). Serotonin has been shown to regulate synaptic plasticity, which is essential for the proper functioning of newly formed neurons (Banasr et al., 2004).

Finally, serotonin is known to play an important role in sleep regulation (Jouvet, 1999), although the relevant relationships are complex (Cespuglio, 2018). Serotonergic neurons constitute the most widely distributed neurochemical network in the vertebrate CNS (Jacobs & Azmitia, 1992), and their activity decreases during slow-wave sleep and completely ceases during REM sleep (Ashford, 2019).

Taken together, this evidence suggests that serotonin is an essential regulator of adult neurogenesis and likely plays a role in the development of new neurons.

1.4 Interaction of Aβ and serotonin signalling

The connection between A β dimers and the 5-HT1 β receptor is crucial in the context of AD. This is because the activation of the serotonergic system has been demonstrated to prevent neuroinflammation caused by A β oligomers (Ledo et al., 2016). The A β -induced inflammatory response and associated neuronal cell death play an important role in the pathology of AD (Yang et al., 2021).

In a mouse model of APPswe/PS1 E9, which is associated with excessive A β deposition and increased plaque formation, an association was found with degeneration of serotonin-releasing neurons (Liu et al., 2008).

Levels of 5-HT and its metabolite 5-hydroxyindoleacetoacetic acid are also reduced in the post-mortem brains of AD patients (Rodriguez et al., 2012).

The results of another study show a downregulation of 5-HT1 β associated with amyloid pathology (Tajeddinn et al., 2015). This reduction was demonstrated both in vitro and in the hippocampus of Tg2576 at 24 months, when these mice have high amyloid pathology (Bilkei-Gorzo, 2014). In addition, 5-HT1 β receptor levels were found to increase with age in WT mice, whereas the opposite pattern was observed in Tg2576 mice. These data are consistent with the binding study showing reduced receptor densities in the brains of AD patients (Garcia-Alloza et al., 2004). Finally, the abnormal behaviour and altered balance of the neurotransmitters 5-HT, DA and ACh in tgD mice (Abdel-Hafiz et al., 2018; Müller-Schiffmann et al., 2018) is consistent with an interaction of A β dimers with 5-HT1 β signalling.

Using an 5-HT1 β receptor agonist or antagonist, we observed the interaction of A β dimers with the 5-HT1 β receptor and its effects on adult neurogenesis in tgD mice.

1.5 Aim of the work

In this study, we used tgD mice that express A β dimers without plaque formation, tau pathology or neuroinflammation, mimicking early Alzheimer's disease. We aimed to test the hypothesis that chronic exposure to soluble A β dimers affects adult hippocampal neurogenesis through an interaction with 5-HT1 β receptor signalling. We hypothesised that A β dimers may modulate the functionality of the 5-HT1 β pathway and thus influence adult neurogenesis at the molecular level. This interaction is likely to be unidirectional. This study may provide a better understanding of the sole effect of soluble dimers on hippocampal structural plasticity and may help to develop new pharmacotherapeutic strategies for the treatment of early-stage Alzheimer's disease.

2. Materials and Methods



Figure 5: Workflow of experiments

2.1 Animals

Homozygous adult male tgD mice on the C57BL/6N background and wild-type C57BL/6N mice (n=24 per genotype), aged 4-5 months and weighing approximately 30 g, were used. The line was independently bred at the Central Animal Laboratory at the University Hospital Essen.

Animals were housed in sound- and light-proof chambers (Bioscape, Germany) in standard APEC polycarbonate cages. All animals were maintained on a standard photoperiod of 12 hours light and 12 hours dark, with light on at 6 am and off at 6 pm. Light intensity was 300 lux. All animals had ad libitum access to food and water.

The animal experiments were performed at the 'Zentrale Einrichtung für Tierforschung und wissenschaftliche Tierschutzaufgaben (ZETT)' and approved by the local government, North Rhine-Westphalia State Agency for Nature, Environment and Consumer Protection (LANUV), Germany (approval number: AZ: 81-02.04.2019.A239). All tests conducted in accordance with European Directive 2010/63/EU. Every effort was made to minimise the number of animals used and to minimise their pain and distress.

2.2 Surgery and drug delivery

A mini-osmotic pump (alzet® model 2006) was used to deliver 0.9% saline, 5-HT1 β receptor agonist (CP 94253 hydrochloride, Tocris Bioscience, Ellisville, MO, USA) or antagonist (SB 216641 hydrochloride, Tocris Bioscience, Ellisville, MO, USA) to the mice. We used a potent, selective 5-HT1 β agonist (K_i values of 89, 2, 860, 49 and 1,600 nM for 5-HT1A, 5-HT1 β , 5-HT1C, 5-HT1D and 5-HT2 receptors, respectively) that is centrally active after systemic administration in vivo and a selective 5-HT1 β antagonist with approximately 25-fold selectivity over 5-HT1_D and little or no affinity for a range of other receptor types.

The dose of the 5-HT1 β agonist is 4 mg/kg/day and has been chosen based on antidepressant-like effect (Tatarczynska et al., 2004) and 5-HT synthesis (Skelin et al., 2012). The dose of the 5-HT1 β receptor antagonist is 3 mg/kg/day and has been modified from Stenfors & Ross (Stenfors & Ross, 2002), who reported a counteracting effect on the fluoxetine-induced increase in the 5-HIAA/5-HT ratio at a dose of 4 mg/kg/day due to skin irritation at this concentration.

Each pump consisted of a main body and associated flow moderator. Using a sterile infusion needle and cannula, the substance was injected into the pump without air bubbles. The fill volume was approximately 200µl, which was released continuously over 42 days at a release rate of 3.6µl. The flow moderator was then inserted into the main body of the pump so that no liquid could escape from the pump. Further information is described by Theeuwes and Yun (F Theeuwes, 1976).

The pump was placed in a 5ml tube with the flow moderator facing up. The tube was filled with 0.9% NaCl solution and incubated at 37°C for 72 hours before use.



Figure 6: Schematic illustration of the mini-osmotic pump (ALZET)

The minipump operates by utilising the osmotic pressure differential between the osmotic layer inside the pump and the surrounding tissue where the pump is implanted. The higher osmolality of the osmotic layer causes water to enter the pump through a semi-permeable membrane that serves as the pump's outer surface. As water passes through the osmotic layer, it compresses a flexible reservoir, which expels the test solution from the pump at a regulated and predetermined rate (Figure adapted from https://www.alzet.com/products/alzet_pumps/how-does-it-work/).

Animals were first anaesthetised with isoflurane at a flow rate of 1.5-2% in a closed chamber. After checking for loss of pain reflexes, a 1 cm x 2 cm area on the back of the mouse was shaved and disinfected. A 2 cm sagittal incision was made and an artery clamp was used to separate the skin from the subcutaneous fat to create a pocket. The pump with the flow moderator was then placed in this pocket in a caudal direction. The skin was then closed with 4-0 VICRYLTM absorbable sutures (Ethicon®) and covered with silver spray (Selectavet, Dr Otto Fischer GmbH). Mice were injected after surgery and for a further 3 consecutive days and allowed to recover for 2 weeks.

2.3 BrdU injections

A dose of 100 mg/kg 5'-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Germany) (BrdU) was injected intraperitoneally (i.p.). 10 mg of BrdU was dissolved in 1 ml of 0.9% NaCl and administered to the mice in a weight-adjusted manner. After a recovery period of two weeks post-operatively, the mice were injected twice daily for three consecutive days at 7 am and 6 pm.

2.4 Experimental groups

Wild type and tgD mice were randomly divided into four groups (n=6 mice per group). The first group was implanted with an osmotic minipump releasing NaCl, injected with BrdU for three consecutive days, and perfused one day after the last BrdU injection.

The second group was implanted with an osmotic minipump releasing NaCl, injected with BrdU for three consecutive days and perfused 28 days after the last BrdU injection.

The third group was implanted with an osmotic minipump releasing a selective 5- $HT1\beta$ agonist (chemical name: 5-propoxy-3-(1,2,3,6-tetrahydro-4-pyridinyl)-1H-pyrrolo[3,2-b]pyridine hydrochloride) for wild-type mice or a selective 5- $HT1\beta$ antagonist (chemical name: N-[3-[3-(dimethylamino)ethoxy]-4-methoxyphenyl]-2'-methyl-4'-(5-methyl-1,2,4-oxadiazol-3-yl)-[1,1'-biphenyl]-4-carboxamide

hydrochloride) for tgD mice, injected with BrdU for three consecutive days and then perfused 1 day after the last BrdU injection to study the proliferation of NPCs.

The fourth group was implanted with an osmotic minipump releasing a selective 5- $HT1\beta$ agonist for wild-type mice or a selective 5- $HT1\beta$ antagonist for tgD mice, injected with BrdU for three consecutive days and perfused 28 days after the last BrdU injection to study survival and neuronal differentiation.

2.5 Tissue processing

The mice were anaesthetised with ketamine/xylazaline (100 mg/10 mg/kg body weight) and then intracardially perfused with 0.9% NaCl followed by 4% paraformaldehyde using a Ministar peristaltic pump (World Precision Instruments, Sarasota, FL, USA). The brains were removed from the skull and postfixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 24 hours. Subsequently, the brains were cryoprotected by storing them in 20% and then 30% sucrose. The right hemisphere was sliced into 40µm free-floating coronal sections using a cryostat (LEICA CM3050 S).

2.6 Immunohistochemistry

Every sixth section from each brain was used for immunohistochemistry. The sections were first washed in phosphate buffered saline (PBS). The sections were then treated with 0.6% H2O2 for 30 minutes and washed again with PBS. For DNA denaturation, sections were incubated in 2N HCl at 37°C for 30 minutes. For neutralisation, 0.1M boric acid was used for 10 minutes and washed with PBS containing 0.2% Triton-X 100 (PBS-T 0.2%). To minimise non-specific binding of the secondary antibody, sections were incubated in 5% normal goat serum (Vector Laboratories, United States) in PBS-T 0.2% for one hour. Incubation with the primary antibody rat monoclonal anti-BrdU antibody (1:1000, Biorad, Germany) followed overnight at 4°C. After washing the sections with PBS-T 0.2% the next day, they were incubated with the secondary antibody goat anti-rat IgG (1:500, Vector Laboratories, United States) for one hour. After a further wash with PBS-T 0.2%, the sections were incubated with VECTASTAIN® Elite® ABC solution (Vector Laboratories, United States) for one hour at room temperature. The sections were washed with PBS-T 0.2% and incubated with 0.05% 3,3'-diaminobenzinide (Sigma-Aldrich, Germany) for 4 minutes. The sections were then washed again, mounted on slides, counterstained with cresyl violet at 60°C for 3 minutes and then destained in 70% isopropanol for 2 x 1 minute.

This was followed by incubation with 97% isopropanol and 100% isopropanol for one minute each twice and cover slipping with Depex (Serva Electrophoresis GmbH, Germany).

Animals sacrificed one day after BrdU injection were subjected to further immunohistochemistry. The primary antibody was rabbit anti-DCX (Abcam, England) and the secondary antibody was goat anti-rabbit (Vector laboratories. United States). DNA denaturation steps were omitted.

2.7 Immunofluorescence

All brain sections from animals killed one day after BrdU injection were treated with double immunofluorescence antibodies against BrdU/DCX. All brain sections from animals killed 28 days after BrdU injection were treated with double immunofluorescence antibodies against BrdU/NeuN.

The DNA was denatured for BrdU staining according to the method described above. Sections from animals killed one day after the last BrdU injection were incubated with the following primary antibodies: rat monoclonal anti-BrdU (1:500, Biorad, Germany) and rabbit polyclonal anti-DCX (1:1000, Abcam, England), while sections from animals killed 28 days after the last BrdU injection were incubated with anti-BrdU and rabbit polyclonal anti-NeuN (1:1000, Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH, Germany). The sections were washed and then incubated with secondary antibodies Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-rabbit IgG (1:500, Invitrogen by Thermo Fisher Scientific, United States) and Alexa Fluor 568 goat anti-rabbit IgG (1:500, Thermo Fisher Scientific, United States) for one hour. The sections were then washed again and coverslipped with DAPI Fluoromount-G (Southern Biotech, United States). Slides were stored at 4°C in the dark until use.

2.8 Imaging and quantification

It should be noted that the samples were not blinded in the study performed.

1. Analysis of the number of BrdU-positive cells in the DG

BrdU-labelled cells were counted manually using a 40X objective of the KEYENCE BZ-X800 microscope. The dentate gyrus was divided into 4 zones: the outer third, the middle third, the inner third and the SGZ. The SGZ was defined as the area from the inner third to the hilus, which still contained two nuclei.

Every sixth brain section was stained with peroxidase/diaminobenzidine (DAB) and the cells counted. The resulting number was multiplied by 6 to give the total number of BrdU-positive cells in the entire hippocampus.

2. Analysis of the neuronal phenotype of BrdU-positive cells in the DG

Fifty to sixty BrdU-positive cells were examined for co-labelling with DCX to detect migrating neuroblasts. Twenty to thirty BrdU-positive cells were tested for co-expression of NeuN (marker of neuronal differentiation) to analyse differentiation after 28 days. Fluorescence signals were captured using a KEYENCE BZ-X800 series (Japan) with a 40X objective. Images were analysed using BZ-II analysis software. Identical settings (exposure time, exposure interval, haze reduction) were used for each analysis. Co-localisation was demonstrated using Z-stack and real-time 3D methods.

3. Analysis of the number of DCX-positive cells in the DG

The number of cells recorded on the slides was multiplied by the number of serial sections to obtain a measure of total number. Cells were assigned to the GCL or SGZ according to their location.

2.9 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using Graph Pad Prism software. Normal distribution was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test, and if the data passed the normality test, the parametric one-way ANOVA test was used, followed by the Tukey post hoc test to detect differences between groups. If the data did not pass the normality test, the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was used to identify differences between groups. Values are expressed as mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM). A P value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3. Results

3. 1 Proliferation of neuronal progenitors and neuroblast pool is reduced in tgD mice

To demonstrate the proliferation of NPCs in the SGZ and GCL, we performed a BrdU assay, as the pyrimidine analogue is incorporated into the DNA of proliferating cells. The BrdU-positive (+) cells were found in the DG of tgD and WT mice and had homogeneously stained triangular, longitudinal, or round nuclei. In the SGZ, BrdU+ cells were mainly arranged in clusters, whereas in the CGL, BrdU+ cells were more sporadically distributed. The tgD mice had a significantly reduced number of BrdU+ cells (1369±123.1 cells) compared to WT mice when treated with saline and sacrificed one day after BrdU injection (2133±39.4 cells) by approximately 64.18% (P=0.01) (Fig.7.1).

Consistently, the number of cells immunoreactive for the neural progenitor type 3 marker DCX was significantly higher (P=0.003) in WT (761.3±29.4) than in tgD mice (394.9±48.9) (Fig.7.2). These data suggest that A β dimers affect the proliferation of NPCs.

3.2 Reduction of proliferating progenitors in tgD mice reversed by 5-HT1 β receptor antagonist

TgD mice treated with 5-HT1 β receptor antagonist showed a significant increase in the number of BrdU+ cells one day after the last BrdU injection (1932±217 cells) compared to tgD mice treated with saline and scarified one day after the BrdU injection (1369±123.1) (P = 0.05), showing an approximately 70.86% increase in the number of NPCs, which was comparable to WT mice (Fig. 7.1).

Consistently, we observed that in tgD mice treated with 5-HT1 β antagonist, the number of DCX cells increased (662.7±68.3) (P=0.024) and became comparable to the DCX+ cell density in WT mice (Fig.7.2). These data suggest that 5-HT1 β antagonist treatment ameliorates the effect of A β dimers on NPC proliferation. The number of BrdU+ cells (Fig.7.1) and the density of DCX+ (Fig.7.2) were not significantly different between WT treated with 5-HT1 β agonist or vehicle. These data suggest that 5-HT1 β activation does not affect the proliferation of NPCs in the absence of A β dimers.



Fig 7.1: Effect of 5-HT1β signalling on hippocampal cell proliferation

(A) Representative photomicrographs of bromdesoxyuridine positive (BrdU+) cells (brown) and cresyl violet staining (blue) in the dentate gyrus (DG) of WT and tgD mice treated with saline (Sal), 5-HT1 β agonist (+) or 5-HT1 β antagonist (-). Scale bar = 200 μ m. (B) Quantification of the absolute number of BrdU+ cells within the DG. n = 6 per group. * : P < 0.05, **: P < 0.01 by ANOVA and Tukey post hoc test. Abbreviations: BrdU – bromdesoxyuridine; DG – dentate gyrus; WT – wild-type.



Fig. 7.2: Effect of 5-HT1β signalling on neuronal progenitors

(A) Representative micrographs of doublecortin-positive (DCX+) cells (brown) in the DG of WT and tgD mice. Granular cell layer (GCL). Scale bar = 50 μ m. (B) Quantification of density of DCX+ cell density within DG. n = 6 per group. *: P < 0.05, **: P < 0.01 using ANOVA and Tukey Post hoc test. Abbreviations: DCX – doublecortin; DG – dentate gyrus; GCL– granular cell layer; WT – wild-type.

3.3 Survival of newborn progenitors is not affected by 5-HT1β receptor antagonist

After 28 days, there was also a significant decrease in the number of surviving NPCs in tgD mice (189±10.59) compared to WT mice (436.5±53.97) (P=0.001), consistent with the initial reduction in neural progenitor proliferation (Fig.7.1 A, B). Using linear regression, we observed that the survival rates of newborn progenitors in tgD mice did not change compared to WT mice (Fig.8 C).

Twenty-eight days after the last BrdU injection, application of the 5-HT1 β receptor antagonist to tgD mice significantly increased the number of BrdU+ cells in the DG (345±34.67) by approximately 54.78% compared to saline-treated tgD mice (P=0.0234). Consistent with the lack of an initial effect of 5-HT1 β receptor agonist on proliferation in WT mice, administration of 5-HT1 β receptor agonist to WT mice did not affect the number of BrdU+ cells 28 days after the last BrdU injection (369±42.42) (P=0.6116). Furthermore, there were no statistically significant differences between the survival of newborn cells in WT and 5-HT1 β agonist treated WT (Fig.8 E). To investigate whether the decrease in BrdU+ cells and therefore neurogenesis affects the total volume of the DG, we performed a total volume measurement. There was no significant difference between WT and tgD mice (Fig.8 D). Application of 5-HT1 β agonist had no effect on DG volume in WT mice. However, we observed a significant increase in the total volume of the DG of tgD mice treated with 5-HT1 β antagonist (0.01793mm3±0.002510) compared to tgD mice treated with saline (0.01992mm3±0.0008256) (P=0.0192).



Fig. 8: Long-term effects of 5-HT1β signalling on cell survival

(A) Representative photomicrographs of BrdU+ cells (brown) and cresyl violet staining (blue) in the DG of WT and tgD mice treated with saline (Sal), 5-HT1 β agonist (+) or 5-HT1 β antagonist (-) 28 days after the last BrdU administration. Scale bar = 200 μ m.

(B) Quantification of the absolute number of BrdU+ cells within the DG. n = 6 per group. **: P < 0.01 by ANOVA and Tukey post hoc test. (C) Linear regression of BrdU+ cell survival. (D) Quantification of total DG volume. n = 6 per group. *: P < 0.05 by ANOVA followed by Tukey post hoc test. (E) Quantification of survival rate. n = 6 per group. **: P < 0.01 by ANOVA and Tukey post hoc test. Abbreviations: BrdU – bromdesoxyuridine; DG – dentate gyrus; WT – wildtype.

3.4 Spatial distribution and migration of neuronal progenitors are not affected in tgD mouse or by 5-HT1β receptor modulation

The spatial distribution and migration to the final position of BrdU+ cells 1 day and 28 days after the last BrdU administration were analysed by estimating the percentage of BrdU+ cells located in the SGZ, inner third, middle third or outer third of the GCL out of the total number of BrdU+ cells. Our results indicate that the spatial distribution and migration to the final location was similar in both WT and tgD mice (P > 0.05). Furthermore, treatment of WT and tgD mice with 5-HT1 β agonist and antagonist, respectively, had no significant effect on the spatial distribution and migration of neuronal progenitors (Fig.9).



Fig 9.: Spatial distribution of BrdU-immunoreactive cells

(A) One day after BrdU injection. (B) 4 weeks after the last BrdU injection. SGZ: subgranular zone, In 1/3: inner third, Mid 1/3: middle third, Out 1/3: outer third of the granule cell layer. Abbreviations: BrdU – bromdesoxyuridine; SGZ – subgranular zone.

3.5 Neuronal differentiation was not affected in tgD mouse or by modulation of the5-HT1β receptor

The percentage of cells immunoreactive for DCX (DCX+), the marker for neuroblasts/immature neurons, among the BrdU+ cells was analysed one day after the last BrdU application. There was no significant difference in the percentage of BrdU/DCX+ co-labelled cells between WT and tgD mice (Fig.10.1). This suggests that despite the overall lower number of BrdU+ cells and thus fewer NPCs, these cells differentiate into mature cells at an equivalent rate. There was no difference in the percentage of BrdU/DCX+ co-labelled cells between WT and tgD mice after treatment of WT and tgD mice with 5-HT1 β agonist and antagonist. This suggests that modulation of 5-HT1 β receptor signalling has no effect on neuronal differentiation.

In addition, the differentiation of NPCs into mature neurons expressing NeuN was examined 28 days after the last BrdU injection. The percentage of cells coexpressing BrdU and the neuronal marker NeuN relative to total BrdU+ cells was not significantly different between experimental groups (Fig.10.2), suggesting that neuronal maturation in tgD mice is not disrupted and is not altered by modulation of 5-HT1 β agonists and antagonists.





Fig. 10.1: Analysis of BrdU and DCX co-localisation

(*A*) Representative photomicrographs showing BrdU+ (green) and DCX+ (red) cells in the DG of the hippocampus. Scale bar = 50µm (B) Quantification of DCX/BrdU+ cells as a percentage of total BrdU+ cells 1 day after the last BrdU administration using the Shapiro-Wilk test followed by the Kruskal-Wallis test. Abbreviations: BrdU – bromdesoxyuridine; DCX – doublecortin; DG – dentate gyrus.



Fig. 10.2: Analysis of BrdU and NeuN co-localisation

(A) Representative photomicrographs showing immunofluoresce of BrdU+ (green) and NeuN+ (red) in the DG of the hippocampus. Scale bar = $50\mu m$ (B) Quantification of NeuN/BrdU+ cells as a percentage of total BrdU+ cells 28 days after the last BrdU administration using the Shapiro-Wilk test followed by the Kruskal-Wallis test. Abbreviations: BrdU – bromdesoxyuridine; NeuN – neuronal nuclear protein; DG – dentate gyrus.

4. Discussion

Considering our results, we can partially confirm our hypothesis. The proliferation of NPCs and the pool of neuroblasts show a significant reduction in tgD mice. This reduction was reversible by 5-HT1 β regulation, suggesting that the observed change in tgD mice is due to the interaction of A β with the 5-HT1 β receptor.

However, NPC survival rate, distribution and migration are unaffected. Differentiation is not affected either in tgD nor by modulation of the 5-HT1 β receptor.

It remains a matter for future research to establish why proliferation of NPCs is impaired while other aspects of adult neurogenesis remain unchanged.

In this thesis, we report that the proliferation of neuronal progenitors and the pool of neuroblasts in the hippocampal dentate gyrus are reduced in tgD mice. This suggests that soluble forms of A β affect adult neurogenesis and thus structural neuroplasticity. These findings are consistent with reduced proliferation of neuronal progenitors in several mouse models. For example, the 3xTg mouse, a transgenic AD model with mutations in the APP sw, PS-1 and MAPT genes (Oddo et al., 2003) with increased tau tangles, A β plaques and neuroinflammation (Hamilton et al., 2010), shows significantly reduced adult neurogenesis in both the SGZ in the hippocampus and the SVZ of the lateral ventricle. At 4 months of age, 3xTg mice exhibit a reduction of up to 63% in Ki67+, BrdU+ NPCs, and DCX+ neuroblasts. By 12 months of age, the ability to generate new neurons is completely abolished (Hamilton et al., 2010; Rodríguez et al., 2008; Rodríguez et al., 2009).

In addition, similar observations have been reported in 5xFAD mice, another AD mouse model that carries 5 mutations in AD-related genes, including 3 APP mutations and 2 PS-1 mutations. These mice show neuropathological changes such as extracellular and intracellular accumulation of amyloid plaques along with synapse loss, neuronal death, neuroinflammation and memory deficits.

At 2 months of age, these mice show reduced adult hippocampal neurogenesis in the DG, as evidenced by reduced DCX expression. By 7 months of age, the mice no longer generate new neurons (Moon et al., 2014). However, disruption of neuronal differentiation and, to a lesser extent, impaired proliferation are thought to be the primary causes of neurogenesis impairment in 5xFAD (Moon et al., 2014; Zaletel et al., 2018).

In contrast to these findings, Jin et al. (Jin, Galvan, et al., 2004) found that the number of BrdU-labelled cells in the DG is increased in another AD model, the PDGF-APP mice, which have two different mutations in the APP gene. These mice show signs of AD-like neuropathology such as amyloid plaques, dystrophic neurites, and gliosis. This reduction was mainly seen in older mice, aged 1 year, while the younger mice, aged 3 months, showed no significant differences compared to wild-type mice. However, another study showed no significant difference in neurogenesis in 5-month-old APP23 transgenic mice before amyloid deposition compared to wild-type controls, but 25-month-old amyloid-depositing APP23 mice showed significantly increased neurogenesis compared to controls (Crews et al., 2010; Ermini et al., 2008).

The varied results may be due to the complex nature of Alzheimer's disease. Numerous factors influence the disease, such as the degree of A β toxicity, the extent of plaques and neurofibrillary tangles, oxidative stress, neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. The different genetic mutations in the transgenic models could also have an impact.

Interestingly, some post-mortem studies of the brains of AD patients support our findings. Lovell and colleagues found reduced survival and senescence of NPCs in the hippocampus of AD patients (Lovell et al., 2006). As AD progresses, the density of immature neurons in the hippocampus decreases, potentially leading to deterioration of the neuronal lineage (Moreno-Jiménez et al., 2019).

However, increased neuronal markers such as DCX, PSA-NCAM and TUC4 have been found in the hippocampus of AD patients (reviewed by Babcock et al., 2021). One explanation would be a compensatory mechanism triggered by neurodegeneration. However, both studies examined a relatively small number (7-14) of post-mortem brains from AD patients (Jin, Peel, et al., 2004; Ziabreva et al., 2006).

The survival of NPCs until the maturation and integration of newborn neurons in the SGZ is essential for hippocampal integrity and function. Many factors could influence the survival of NPCs, for example, exposure to an enriched environment promotes the survival of immature neurons (Kee et al., 2007; Tashiro et al., 2007). In contrast, ageing and stress can have negative effects (reviewed by Klempin & Kempermann, 2007). These findings shed light on the complex balance of factors that influence the survival of neural progenitor cells.

In our study, we found no difference in NPC survival rates between tgD and wildtype mice. In contrast, researchers using BrdU and NeuN found more NPCs surviving in the APP/PS1 transgenic mouse model of AD (Yu et al., 2009). Another study showed that early NPC survival in an AD mouse model using APP/Aβ transgenic mice was unaltered, while later there was a decrease in survival at 4-6 weeks of age by 12% decrease compared to normal mice. They also detected fewer maturation markers in only a third of the Alzheimer's mice, compared to about half of the normal mice (Verret et al., 2007).

In addition, Wen's group saw lower NPC survival rates in PS1 transgenic AD mice. However this may be because of failed neurogenesis during the embryonic growth, resulting in fewer mature and immature neurons overall, which eventually leads to AD (Wen et al., 2004).

In PS1/PS2 double knockout mice, there was no detectable change in the short-term survival of these mice. Yet, a significant decrease in the long-term survival of BrdU/NeuN positive cells was reported (Chen & Dong, 2009).

These inconsistent findings may be attributed to variations in the models employed, experimental protocols, animal age and markers utilised for analysis (Shruster et al., 2010).

Migration of neuronal progenitors within the neurogenic niche in the hippocampus and their final spatial distribution in the granular cell layer is an essential feature of memory and cognitive functional integrity of the hippocampus. Disruptions in the spatial distribution and migration can have significant implications for brain development and function (reviewed by Mu & Gage, 2011). Our results show that the spatial distribution and migration of neuronal progenitors are unaffected in the tgD mouse model, suggesting that these specific processes may not be directly affected by early amyloid pathology in the form of soluble A β in tgD mice.

The final step in adult neurogenesis is the differentiation of newborn cells into mature neurons and their integration into the hippocampal circuitry.

In our study, $A\beta$ dimers alone may not be associated with significant impairments in neuronal differentiation, as supported by other studies. Donovan and collegues found that the number of BrdU/ NeuN positive cells in PDAPP mice expressing human V717F mutant APP under the control of the platelet-derived growth factor- β promoter was not significantly different from WT mice. After 4 weeks, the same proportion of new cells became neurons, so there was no difference in neuronal fate (Donovan et al., 2006). Another study using double transgenic mice expressing the CaMKII-TAA and tetO-APPsxe/ind 102 genes supports this finding.

In a further study, immunohistochemistry using BrdU/ NeuN showed no difference between CaMKII-TTA/ APP mice and the control group in terms of differentiation into mature neurons in the SGZ (Yetman & Jankowsky, 2013).

The effect of AD on neuronal differentiation has been studied in several AD models (Ming & Song, 2011). For example, an AD mouse model with APPSw,Ind mutations showed increased neurogenic differentiation at an early stage (Jin, Galvan, et al., 2004).

However, this increase in neuronal differentiation was not maintained in older mice, suggesting a dynamic regulation of this process that changes with age and disease progression (Heo et al., 2007). Similarly, in Bi-Tg mice carrying pPDGF-APPSw,Ind and pNes-LacZ mutations, A β plaques promote the differentiation of NPCs (Gan et al., 2008).

Interestingly, specific A β isoforms were shown to have different effects, as oligomers and small aggregated forms of A β 1-42 had positive effects on neuronal differentiation, whereas soluble forms of A β 1-42 and all forms of A β 1-40 had no effect (López-Toledano & Shelanski, 2004). In contrast, another study found that A β 1-40 and A β 1-42 induced astrocytic and neuronal differentiation (Chen & Dong, 2009). In addition, a third study showed that both A β 1-42 monomers and oligomers induced neuronal differentiation, whereas the fibrillar form had no effect (Heo et al., 2007).

These divergent results highlight the complexity of the influence of A β on neuronal differentiation and suggest that different A β isoforms may have different effects. Overall, the effect of AD on neuronal differentiation is influenced by a combination of different factors such as A β isoforms, age and A β deposition (reviewed by Chuang, 2010).

In our study, the significant reduction in hippocampal NPC proliferation in tgD mice could be reversed by administration of a specific 5-HT1 β receptor antagonist. These findings suggest a potential link between altered serotonin signalling through the 5-HT1 β receptor and the proliferation of hippocampal neuronal progenitors in the tgD mice. Importantly, regulation of 5-HT1 β receptors also appears to contribute to the induction of proliferation (Banasr et al., 2004). However, there is a limited amount of data on the effect of the 5-HT1 β subtype alone on proliferation.

Serotonin plays an essential role in adult hippocampal neurogenesis (Jin, Galvan, et al., 2004; Song et al., 2016).

Studies showed that reducing central 5-HT levels in adult mice led to enhanced neurogenesis, characterised by increased proliferation of NPCs and improved survival of new born neurons in the hippocampus (Diaz et al., 2013). This effect was observed in mice with a significant reduction of serotonergic neurons, but not in those with a milder reduction (Song et al., 2016). Additionally, the dendritic length of adult neurons was increased in mice with reduced serotonin levels (Song et al., 2016).

Moreover, chronic administration of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), which increase extracellular 5-HT levels, promotes neurogenesis (reviewed by Song, Huang, et al., 2017). The findings suggest that both extremely low and high levels of central 5-HT can promote adult hippocampal neurogenesis, possibly through activation of different combinations of 5-HT receptors, and that central 5-HT plays multiple roles in regulating adult neurogenesis, as evidenced by findings from mouse models with dysfunctional 5-HT signalling at different developmental stages (reviewed by Song, Zhang, et al., 2017).

Pharmacological manipulation of 5-HT receptors has shown that different subtypes, such as 5-HT1A and 5-HT2, also regulate different stages of neurogenesis (Klempin et al., 2013). The 5-HT1A receptor subtype has been identified as a key mediator of the effects of serotonin. In vitro experiments have shown that isolated neural stem cells express 5-HT1A receptors and produce both serotonin and tryptophan hydroxylase (TPH), an enzyme involved in serotonin synthesis (Benninghoff et al., 2009; Klempin et al., 2013). Blocking 5-HT1A receptors or reducing serotonin levels reduces the self-renewal and proliferation of NPCs. On the other hand, stimulating 5-HT1A receptor family exerts different effects on neurogenesis. Acute activation of the 5-HT2C receptor subtype can either decrease cell proliferation or have no effect (Banasr et al., 2004; Klempin et al., 2013). Conversely, blocking 5-HT2C receptors leads to an increase in the number of labelled cells. These findings suggest that the actions of 5-HT2 receptors.

Importantly, 5-HT receptors are expressed in specific regions of the hippocampus and play a crucial role in adult hippocampal neurogenesis (reviewed by Alenina & Klempin, 2015). Increasing 5-HT levels by chronic administration of SSRIs increased the survival of adult neurons and promoted the maturation of immature neurons in the hippocampus (Malberg et al., 2000; Santarelli et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2014). However, it has been shown that lifelong serotonin depletion in tph2 mice does not result in a measurable change in proliferation compared to WT mice (Klempin et al., 2013). These data suggest that there are permanent compensatory mechanisms in the lifelong absence of serotonin. Chronic activation of these receptors increases proliferation, whereas prolonged inhibition reduces net neurogenesis (reviewed by Song, Huang, et al., 2017).

We next investigated the effect of a 5-HT1 β receptor antagonist on the survival of newborn progenitor cells in tgD mice. Our study showed that administration of a 5-HT1 β receptor agonist to WT mice or antagonist to tgD mice did not affect the newborn progenitor survival rate, which may be due to the release of compensation caused by decreased proliferation in tgD mice. Another hypothesis is that the 5-HT1 β receptor does not play a critical role in promoting the survival of NPCs.

The increased survival induced by chronic administration of fluoxetine, an SSRI, is blocked in 5-HT1 β KO mice (Diaz et al., 2012). Similarly, increased survival and antidepressant-like behaviour induced by exercise are blocked in 5-HT3 KO mice (reviewed by Song, Huang, et al., 2017). This shows the complexity of the 5-HT signalling pathway in the survival of NPCs.

In our study, receptor modulation by 5-HT1 β antagonists did not affect the spatial distribution and migration of NPCs in the tgD mouse model. In addition, administration of a 5-HT1 β agonist to WT mice also had no effect on NPC distribution and migration. These findings suggest that manipulation of this receptor alone may not have a direct effect on the spatial distribution and migration of neuronal progenitors in the mouse hippocampus.

We found that neuronal maturation in tgD mice is not disrupted and is not altered by modulation of 5-HT1 β agonists and antagonists. Most studies investigating the influence of serotonin on adult neurogenesis have focused primarily on the proliferation and survival of adult neurons rather than their maturation (reviewed by Song, Zhang, et al., 2017). But the loss of central serotonin levels, as observed in tryptophan hydroxylase 2/serotonin transporter enhancer protein (Tph2Pet1 CKO) and parvalbumin-expressing interneuron-specific diphtheria toxin receptor (PC/DTR) mouse models, can affect neuronal maturation and dendritic length of adult-born neurons (Jia et al., 2014; Song et al., 2016).

Another study examined the effects of extremely low and high levels of serotonin on neuronal cell development in rodents. Low serotonin levels, induced by the antagonist Mianserin, led to specific apoptosis of neuronal cells, while fibroblasts remained unaffected. In contrast, very high levels of serotonin resulted in significant changes, including a decrease in cell aggregation, impaired cell organisation and impaired differentiation of neuronal cells. This was reflected in altered expression of proteins such as glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) and NeuN.

Furthermore, the formation of axons was significantly decreased in the studies described. While the organization of the cytoskeleton was unchanged with high serotonin levels, there were clear problems with the differentiation processes. This research underscores serotonin's critical role in neuron survival and development, and brings to light potential negative impacts of abnormal serotonin levels during development (Menegola et al., 2004).

Other neurotransmitters affecting adult hippocampal neurogenesis include GABA, the primary inhibitory neurotransmitter, which has a dual effect on adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Activation of the GABA system reduces cell proliferation but accelerates the synaptic integration of newly generated neurons. Conversely, the glutamate system, the main excitatory neurotransmitter, has a negative effect on neurogenesis.

Activation of the NMDA subtype of glutamate receptors inhibits cell proliferation, while blocking these receptors or lesioning the main glutamatergic input to the dentate gyrus increases cell proliferation (reviewed by Lieberwirth et al., 2016).

In our work here, modulating 5-HT1 β did not affect neuronal differentiation capacity. It is worth noting that the effects of serotonin modulation on neuronal maturation in Alzheimer's disease may differ from the effects observed in these serotonin-related genetic models.

Summary, conclusion and outlook

In the hippocampus of the tgD mice, which produces soluble A β dimers, the number of proliferating cells and DCX cells is significantly reduced. This implies soluble forms of A β impair the structural plasticity of the hippocampus by reducing NPCs likely contributing to deficits in hippocampus-dependent learning and memory.

Treating tgD mice with a 5-HT1 β antagonist partially reversed the reduction of NPCs, supporting the hypothesis of A β dimers interacting with 5-HT1 β signalling. Since 5-HT1 β is mostly presynaptic and functions as an auto- or heteroreceptor, A β dimers could conceivably interact with 5-HT1 β signalling to affect not just serotonin release, which is known to regulate neurogenesis but also other neurotransmitters.

More research is required to determine if 5-HT1 β antagonists modulate neurotransmitter release and improve cognitive and non-cognitive deficits in tgD mice. This approach may open up new therapeutic avenues to alleviate symptoms of Alzheimer's disease patients.

5. Bibliography

- Abdel-Hafiz, L., Müller-Schiffmann, A., Korth, C., Fazari, B., Chao, O. Y., Nikolaus, S., Schäble, S., Herring, A., Keyvani, K., Lamounier-Zepter, V., Huston, J. P., & de Souza Silva, M. A. (2018). Aβ dimers induce behavioral and neurochemical deficits of relevance to early Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 69, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2018.04.005
- Alenina, N., & Klempin, F. (2015). The role of serotonin in adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Behavioural Brain Research, 277, 49-57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2014.07.038</u>
- Ali, A. A. H., Schwarz-Herzke, B., Mir, S., Sahlender, B., Victor, M., Görg, B., Schmuck, M., Dach, K., Fritsche, E., Kremer, A., & von Gall, C. (2019). Deficiency of the clock gene Bmal1 affects neural progenitor cell migration. *Brain Structure and Function*, 224(1), 373-386. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-018-1775-1</u>
- Ali, A. A. H., Schwarz-Herzke, B., Stahr, A., Prozorovski, T., Aktas, O., & von Gall, C. (2015). Premature aging of the hippocampal neurogenic niche in adult Bmalldeficient mice. *Aging*, 7(6), 435-449. <u>https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.100764</u>
- Ali, A. A. H., & von Gall, C. (2022). Adult Neurogenesis under Control of the Circadian System. Cells, 11(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11050764</u>
- Amidfar, M., Colic, L., Walter, M., & Kim, Y.-K. (2018). Biomarkers of Major Depression Related to Serotonin Receptors. *Current Psychiatry Reviews*, 14(4), 239-244. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1573400514666181016115747</u>
- Apple, D. M., Solano-Fonseca, R., & Kokovay, E. (2017). Neurogenesis in the aging brain.BiochemicalPharmacology,https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2017.06.116
- Ashford, J. W. (2019). Treatment of Alzheimer's Disease: Trazodone, Sleep, Serotonin, Norepinephrine, and Future Directions. J Alzheimers Dis, 67(3), 923-930. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-181106</u>
- Babcock, K. R., Page, J. S., Fallon, J. R., & Webb, A. E. (2021). Adult Hippocampal Neurogenesis in Aging and Alzheimer's Disease. *Stem Cell Reports*, 16(4), 681-693. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2021.01.019</u>
- Banasr, M., Hery, M., Printemps, R., & Daszuta, A. (2004). Serotonin-induced increases in adult cell proliferation and neurogenesis are mediated through different and common 5-HT receptor subtypes in the dentate gyrus and the subventricular zone. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29(3), 450-460. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1300320</u>
- Barnes Nm, S. T. (1999). 5-HTR_review_Neurophar.pdf. *Neuropharmacology*, *38*, 1083-1152. <u>www.elsevier.com/locate/neuropharm</u>
- Benninghoff, J., Gritti, A., Rizzi, M., Lamorte, G., Schloesser, R. J., Schmitt, A., Robel, S., Genius, J., Moessner, R., Riederer, P., Manji, H. K., Grunze, H., Rujescu, D., Moeller, H. J., Lesch, K. P., & Vescovi, A. L. (2009). Serotonin Depletion Hampers Survival and Proliferation in Neurospheres Derived from Adult Neural Stem Cells. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2010 35:4, 35(4), 893-903. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2009.181
- Berger, M., Gray, J. A., & Roth, B. L. (2009). The expanded biology of serotonin. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 60, 355-366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.med.60.042307.110802</u>

- Berumen, L. C., Rodríguez, A., Miledi, R., & García-Alcocer, G. (2012). Serotonin receptors in hippocampus. *TheScientificWorldJournal*, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1100/2012/823493
- Bilkei-Gorzo, A. (2014). Genetic mouse models of brain ageing and Alzheimer's disease. *Pharmacol Ther*, 142(2), 244-257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2013.12.009</u>
- Braun, S. M. G., & Jessberger, S. (2014). Adult neurogenesis: Mechanisms and functional significance. *Development (Cambridge)*, 141(10), 1983-1986. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.104596</u>
- Breijyeh, Z., & Karaman, R. (2020). Comprehensive Review on Alzheimer's Disease.
- Brezun, J. M., & Daszuta, A. (1999). Depletion in serotonin decreases neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus and the subventricular zone of adult rats. *Neuroscience*, *89*(4), 999-1002. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(98)00693-9</u>
- Brodaty, H., & Donkin, M. (2009). Family caregivers of people with dementia. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, *11*(2), 217-228. https://doi.org/10.31887/dcns.2009.11.2/hbrodaty
- Cameron, H. A., & Glover, L. R. (2015). Adult neurogenesis: Beyond learning and memory*. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 66(September 2014), 53-81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010814-015006</u>
- Caroline dos Santos Picanço, L., Ozela, P. F., de Fátima de Brito Brito, M., Pinheiro, A. A., Padilha, E. C., Braga, F. S., Henrique Tomich de Paula da Silva, C., Breno Rodrigues dos Santos, C., Rosa, J. M. C., & Izabel da Silva Hage-Melim, L. (2018). Current Medicinal Chemistry The International Journal for Timely In-depth Reviews in Medicinal Chemistry BENTHAM SCIENCE Send Orders for Reprints to reprints@benthamscience.ae Alzheimer's Disease: A Review from the Pathophysiology to Diagnosis, New Perspe. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 25, 3141-3159. https://doi.org/10.2174/09298673236661612131
- Cerejeira, J., Lagarto, L., & Mukaetova-Ladinska, E. B. (2012). Behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia. *Frontiers in Neurology*, *MAY*(May), 1-21. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2012.00073
- Cespuglio, R. (2018). Serotonin: its place today in sleep preparation, triggering or maintenance. *Sleep Med*, 49, 31-39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2018.05.034</u>
- Chen, Y., & Dong, C. (2009). Abeta40 promotes neuronal cell fate in neural progenitor cells. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 16(3), 386-394. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/CDD.2008.94</u>
- Chuang, T. T. (2010). Neurogenesis in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2009.12.008
- Cleary, J. P., Walsh, D. M., Hofmeister, J. J., Shankar, G. M., Kuskowski, M. A., Selkoe, D. J., & Ashe, K. H. (2005). Natural oligomers of the amyloid-beta protein specifically disrupt cognitive function. *Nature neuroscience*, 8(1), 79-84. https://doi.org/10.1038/NN1372
- Cline, E. N., Assunç, A., Bicca, A., Viola, K. L., Klein, W. L., & Klein, W. (2018). The Amyloid-Oligomer Hypothesis: Beginning of the Third Decade the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (CC BY-NC 4.0). Journal of Alzheimer's Disease, 64, 567-610. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-179941</u>

- Crews, L., Rockenstein, E., & Masliah, E. (2010). APP transgenic modeling of Alzheimer's disease: mechanisms of neurodegeneration and aberrant neurogenesis. *Brain Struct Funct*, 214(2-3), 111-126. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-009-0232-6
- De Matos Feijó, F., Bertoluci, M. C., & Reis, C. (2011). Serotonin and hypothalamic control of hunger: A review. *Revista da Associacao Medica Brasileira*, 57(1), 74-77. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0104-42302011000100020
- Dennis, J. S. (1999). Translating cell biology into therapeutic advances in Alzheimer's disease. *Nature*, 399(June), A23-31.
- Diaz, S. L., Doly, S., Narboux-Nme, N., Fernández, S., Mazot, P., Banas, S. M., Boutourlinsky, K., Moutkine, I., Belmer, A., Roumier, A., & Maroteaux, L. (2012).
 5-HT2B receptors are required for serotonin-selective antidepressant actions. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 17(2), 154-154. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/MP.2011.159</u>
- Diaz, S. L., Narboux-Nême, N., Trowbridge, S., Scotto-Lomassese, S., Kleine Borgmann, F. B., Jessberger, S., Giros, B., Maroteaux, L., Deneris, E., & Gaspar, P. (2013). Paradoxical increase in survival of newborn neurons in the dentate gyrus of mice with constitutive depletion of serotonin. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 38(5), 2650-2658. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.12297
- Donovan, M. H., Yazdani, U., Norris, R. D., Games, D., German, D. C., & Eisch, A. J. (2006). Decreased adult hippocampal neurogenesis in the PDAPP mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 495(1), 70-83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.20840</u>
- Du Preez, A., Onorato, D., Eiben, I., Musaelyan, K., Egeland, M., Zunszain, P. A., Fernandes, C., Thuret, S., & Pariante, C. M. (2021). Chronic stress followed by social isolation promotes depressive-like behaviour, alters microglial and astrocyte biology and reduces hippocampal neurogenesis in male mice. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 91, 24-47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2020.07.015</u>
- Dubois, B., Hampel, H., Feldman, H. H., Scheltens, P., Aisen, P., Andrieu, S., Bakardjian, H., Benali, H., Bertram, L., Blennow, K., Broich, K., Cavedo, E., Crutch, S., Dartigues, J. F., Duyckaerts, C., Epelbaum, S., Frisoni, G. B., Gauthier, S., Genthon, R., ... Jack, C. R. (2016). *Preclinical Alzheimer's disease: Definition, natural history,* and diagnostic criteria (Vol. 12). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2016.02.002</u>
- Erik S. Musiek, M. D. P. D. (2017). 乳鼠心肌提取 HHS Public Access. *Physiology & behavior*, 176(5), 139-148. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40675-017-0072-5.Circadian
- Ermini, F. V., Grathwohl, S., Radde, R., Yamaguchi, M., Staufenbiel, M., Palmer, T. D., & Jucker, M. (2008). Neurogenesis and alterations of neural stem cells in mouse models of cerebral amyloidosis. *Am J Pathol*, 172(6), 1520-1528. https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2008.060520
- F Theeuwes, S. I. Y. (1976). Principles of the Design' and Operation of Generic Osmotic Pumps for the Delivery of Semisolid or Liquid Drug Formulations. *ANNALS OF BIOMEDICAL ENGiNEERING*, 4(4).
- Francis, P. T. (2005). The interplay of neurotransmitters in Alzheimer's disease. CNS spectrums, 10(11 Suppl 18), 6-9. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1092852900014164
- Fuster-Matanzo, A., Llorens-Martín, M., Hernández, F., & Avila, J. (2013). Role of neuroinflammation in adult neurogenesis and Alzheimer disease: Therapeutic approaches. *Mediators of Inflammation*, 2013. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/260925</u>

- Gan, L., Qiao, S., Lan, X., Chi, L., Luo, C., Lien, L., Yan Liu, Q., & Liu, R. (2008). Neurogenic Responses to Amyloid-Beta Plaques in the Brain of Alzheimer's Disease-Like Transgenic (pPDGF-APPSw,Ind) Mice. *Neurobiology of disease*, 29(1), 71-71. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NBD.2007.08.002
- Garcia-Alloza, M., Hirst, W. D., Chen, C. P., Lasheras, B., Francis, P. T., & Ramirez, M. J. (2004). Differential involvement of 5-HT(1B/1D) and 5-HT6 receptors in cognitive and non-cognitive symptoms in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29(2), 410-416. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1300330</u>
- Gonçalves, J. T., Schafer, S. T., & Gage, F. H. (2016). Adult Neurogenesis in the Hippocampus: From Stem Cells to Behavior. *Cell*, 167(4), 897-914. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.10.021
- Hamilton, L. K., Aumont, A., Julien, C., Vadnais, A., Calon, F., & Fernandes, K. J. L. (2010).
 Widespread deficits in adult neurogenesis precede plaque and tangle formation in the 3xTg mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *The European journal of neuroscience*, 32(6), 905-920. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1460-9568.2010.07379.X</u>
- Hampel, H., Mesulam, M. M., Cuello, A. C., Farlow, M. R., Giacobini, E., Grossberg, G. T., Khachaturian, A. S., Vergallo, A., Cavedo, E., Snyder, P. J., & Khachaturian, Z. S. (2018). The cholinergic system in the pathophysiology and treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Brain*, 141(7), 1917-1933. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awy132</u>
- Heo, C., Chang, K. A., Choi, H. S., Kim, H. S., Kim, S., Liew, H., Kim, J. A., Yu, E., Ma, J., & Suh, Y. H. (2007). Effects of the monomeric, oligomeric, and fibrillar Abeta42 peptides on the proliferation and differentiation of adult neural stem cells from subventricular zone. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 102(2), 493-500. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1471-4159.2007.04499.X
- Holmes, M. M. (2016). Social regulation of adult neurogenesis: A comparative approach. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, *41*(February), 59-70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2016.02.001</u>
- Holtzman, D. M., Morris, J. C., & Goate, A. M. (2011). Alzheimer's disease: The challenge of the second century. *Science Translational Medicine*, *3*(77), 1-35. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3002369
- Hornung, J. P. (2003). The human raphe nuclei and the serotonergic system. *Journal of Chemical Neuroanatomy*, 26(4), 331-343. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCHEMNEU.2003.10.002
- Jack, C. R., Bennett, D. A., Blennow, K., Carrillo, M. C., Dunn, B., Haeberlein, S. B., Holtzman, D. M., Jagust, W., Jessen, F., Karlawish, J., Liu, E., Molinuevo, J. L., Montine, T., Phelps, C., Rankin, K. P., Rowe, C. C., Scheltens, P., Siemers, E., Snyder, H. M., . . . Silverberg, N. (2018). NIA-AA Research Framework: Toward a biological definition of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's and Dementia*, 14(4), 535-562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2018.02.018
- Jacobs, B. L., & Azmitia, E. C. (1992). Structure and function of the brain serotonin system. *Physiol Rev*, 72(1), 165-229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.1992.72.1.165</u>
- Jessberger, S., Clark, R. E., Broadbent, N. J., Clemenson, G. D., Consiglio, A., Lie, D. C., Squire, L. R., & Gage, F. H. (2009). Dentate gyrus-specific knockdown of adult neurogenesis impairs spatial and object recognition memory in adult rats. *Learning* and Memory, 16(2), 147-154. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/lm.1172609</u>

- Jia, Y. F., Song, N. N., Mao, R. R., Li, J. N., Zhang, Q., Huang, Y., Zhang, L., Han, H. L., Ding, Y. Q., & Xu, L. (2014). Abnormal anxiety- and depression-like behaviors in mice lacking both central serotonergic neurons and pancreatic islet cells. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNBEH.2014.00325
- Jin, K., Galvan, V., Xie, L., Mao, X. O., Gorostiza, O. F., Bredesen, D. E., & Greenberg, D. A. (2004). Enhanced neurogenesis in Alzheimer's disease transgenic (PDGF-APP Sw,Ind) mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 101(36), 13363-13367. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0403678101</u>
- Jin, K., Peel, A. L., Mao, X. O., Xie, L., Cottrell, B. A., Henshall, D. C., & Greenberg, D. A. (2004). Increased hippocampal neurogenesis in Alzheimer's disease. *Proceedings of* the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 101(1), 343-347. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2634794100</u>
- Jouvet, M. (1999). Sleep and serotonin: an unfinished story. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 21(2 Suppl), 24S-27S. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0893-133X(99)00009-3</u>
- Kee, N., Teixeira, C. M., Wang, A. H., & Frankland, P. W. (2007). Preferential incorporation of adult-generated granule cells into spatial memory networks in the dentate gyrus. *Nature neuroscience*, 10(3), 355-362. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/NN1847</u>
- Kempermann, G., Gage, F. H., Aigner, L., Song, H., Curtis, M. A., Thuret, S., Kuhn, H. G., Jessberger, S., Frankland, P. W., Cameron, H. A., Gould, E., Hen, R., Abrous, D. N., Toni, N., Schinder, A. F., Zhao, X., Lucassen, P. J., & Frisen, J. (2018). Human Adult Neurogenesis: Evidence and Remaining Questions. *Cell Stem Cell*, 23(1), 25-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2018.04.004</u>
- Kempermann, G., Kuhn, H. G., & Gage, F. H. (1997). More hippocampal neurons in adult mice living in an enriched environment. In (Vol. 386, pp. 493-495).
- Kempermann, G., Song, H., & Gage, F. H. (2015). Neurogenesis in the Adult Hippocampus. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 7(9), a018812-a018812. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a018812</u>
- Klempin, F., Beis, D., Mosienko, V., Kempermann, G., Bader, M., & Alenina, N. (2013). Serotonin is required for exercise-induced adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 33(19), 8270-8275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5855-12.2013</u>
- Klempin, F., & Kempermann, G. (2007). Adult hippocampal neurogenesis and aging. European archives of psychiatry and clinical neuroscience, 257(5), 271-280. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00406-007-0731-5
- Kozareva, D. A., Cryan, J. F., & Nolan, Y. M. (2019). Born this way: Hippocampal neurogenesis across the lifespan. *Aging Cell*, 18(5), e13007. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.13007</u>
- Krezymon, A., Richetin, K., Halley, H., Roybon, L., Lassalle, J. M., Francès, B., Verret, L., & Rampon, C. (2013). Modifications of Hippocampal Circuits and Early Disruption of Adult Neurogenesis in the Tg2576 Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease. *PLoS ONE*, 8(9), 9-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0076497</u>
- Kumar, A., Sidhu, J., Goyal, A., Tsao, J. W., & Svercauski, J. (2021). Alzheimer Disease (Nursing). *StatPearls*. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/33760564</u>
- Leal-Galicia, P., Saldívar-González, A., Morimoto, S., & Arias, C. (2007). Exposure to environmental enrichment elicits differential hippocampal cell proliferation: role of

individual responsiveness to anxiety. *Dev Neurobiol*, 67(4), 395-405. https://doi.org/10.1002/dneu.20322

- Ledo, J. H., Azevedo, E. P., Beckman, D., Ribeiro, F. C., Santos, L. E., Razolli, D. S., Kincheski, G. C., Melo, H. M., Bellio, M., Teixeira, A. L., Velloso, L. A., Foguel, D., De Felice, F. G., & Ferreira, S. T. (2016). Cross Talk Between Brain Innate Immunity and Serotonin Signaling Underlies Depressive-Like Behavior Induced by Alzheimer's Amyloid-beta Oligomers in Mice. *J Neurosci*, 36(48), 12106-12116. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1269-16.2016
- Leibowitz, S. F., & Shor-Posner, G. (1986). Brain serotonin and eating behavior. *Appetite*, 7, 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0195-6663(86)80049-6</u>
- Lesch, K. P., & Waider, J. (2012). Serotonin in the modulation of neural plasticity and networks: implications for neurodevelopmental disorders. *Neuron*, 76(1), 175-191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2012.09.013</u>
- Leschik, J., Gentile, A., Cicek, C., Péron, S., Tevosian, M., Beer, A., Radyushkin, K., Bludau, A., Ebner, K., Neumann, I., Singewald, N., Berninger, B., Lessmann, V., & Lutz, B. (2022). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression in serotonergic neurons improves stress resilience and promotes adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 217, 102333-102333. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PNEUROBIO.2022.102333
- Levy, M. L., Cummings, J. L., & Kahn-Rose, R. (1999). Neuropsychiatric symptoms and cholinergic therapy for Alzheimer's disease. *Gerontology*, 45(SUPPL. 1), 15-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000052760</u>
- Lieberwirth, C., Pan, Y., Liu, Y., Zhang, Z., & Wang, Z. (2016). Hippocampal adult neurogenesis: Its regulation and potential role in spatial learning and memory. *Brain Res*, 1644, 127-140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2016.05.015</u>
- Liu, P., Reed, M. N., Kotilinek, L. A., Grant, M. K., Forster, C. L., Qiang, W., Shapiro, S. L., Reichl, J. H., Chiang, A. C., Jankowsky, J. L., Wilmot, C. M., Cleary, J. P., Zahs, K. R., & Ashe, K. H. (2015). Quaternary Structure Defines a Large Class of Amyloidbeta Oligomers Neutralized by Sequestration. *Cell Rep*, 11(11), 1760-1771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015.05.021
- Liu, Y., Yoo, M. J., Savonenko, A., Stirling, W., Price, D. L., Borchelt, D. R., Mamounas, L., Lyons, W. E., Blue, M. E., & Lee, M. K. (2008). Amyloid pathology is associated with progressive monoaminergic neurodegeneration in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci, 28(51), 13805-13814. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4218-08.2008
- López-Toledano, M. A., & Shelanski, M. L. (2004). Neurogenic effect of beta-amyloid peptide in the development of neural stem cells. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 24(23), 5439-5444. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0974-04.2004
- Lovell, M. A., Geiger, H., Van Zant, G. E., Lynn, B. C., & Markesbery, W. R. (2006). Isolation of neural precursor cells from Alzheimer's disease and aged control postmortem brain. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 27(7), 909-917. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROBIOLAGING.2005.05.004</u>
- Lyketsos, C. G., Carrillo, M. C., Ryan, J. M., Khachaturian, A. S., Trzepacz, P., Amatniek, J., Cedarbaum, J., Brashear, R., & Miller, D. S. (2011). Neuropsychiatric symptoms

in Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's and Dementia*, 7(5), 532-539. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2011.05.2410

- Ma, C. L., Ma, X. T., Wang, J. J., Liu, H., Chen, Y. F., & Yang, Y. (2017). Physical exercise induces hippocampal neurogenesis and prevents cognitive decline. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 317, 332-339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2016.09.067</u>
- Malberg, J. E., Eisch, A. J., Nestler, E. J., & Duman, R. S. (2000). Chronic Antidepressant Treatment Increases Neurogenesis in Adult Rat Hippocampus. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 20(24), 9104-9110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-24-09104.2000</u>
- Martorana, A., Esposito, Z., & Koch, G. (2010). Beyond the cholinergic hypothesis: Do current drugs work in alzheimer's disease? CNS Neuroscience and Therapeutics, 16(4), 235-245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1755-5949.2010.00175.X</u>
- Mathys, M., Fang, S., John, J., & Carter, J. (2018). Antipsychotic discontinuation after the initiation of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors therapy for the treatment of behavioral and psychological symptoms associated with dementia. *Mental Health Clinician*, 8(3), 122-126. <u>https://doi.org/10.9740/mhc.2018.05.122</u>
- Mc Donald, J. M., Savva, G. M., Brayne, C., Welzel, A. T., Forster, G., Shankar, G. M., Selkoe, D. J., Ince, P. G., & Walsh, D. M. (2010). The presence of sodium dodecyl sulphate-stable Aβ dimers is strongly associated with Alzheimer-type dementia. *Brain*, 133(5), 1328-1341. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awq065</u>
- Menegola, E., Broccia, M. L., Di Renzo, F., Massa, V., & Giavini, E. (2004). Effects of excess and deprivation of serotonin on in vitro neuronal differentiation. *In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology - Animal*, 40(1-2), 52-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1290/1543-706X(2004)40</u><52:EOEADO>2.0.CO;2
- Milán-Tomás, Á., & Shapiro, C. M. (2018). Circadian Rhythms Disturbances in Alzheimer Disease: Current Concepts, Diagnosis, and Management. Alzheimer Disease & Associated Disorders, 32(2), 162-171.
 http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ccm&AN=129897168&site=ehost-live
- Ming, G. l., & Song, H. (2011). Adult Neurogenesis in the Mammalian Brain: Significant Answers and Significant Questions. In (Vol. 70, pp. 687-702): NIH Public Access.
- Moon, M., Cha, M. Y., & Mook-Jung, I. (2014). Impaired hippocampal neurogenesis and its enhancement with ghrelin in 5XFAD mice. *Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD*, 41(1), 233-241. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-132417</u>
- Moreno-Jiménez, E. P., Flor-García, M., Terreros-Roncal, J., Rábano, A., Cafini, F., Pallas-Bazarra, N., Ávila, J., & Llorens-Martín, M. (2019). Adult hippocampal neurogenesis is abundant in neurologically healthy subjects and drops sharply in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Nature Medicine*, 25(4), 554-560. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41591-019-0375-9
- Moret, C., & Briley, M. (2000). The possible role of 5-HT(1B/D) receptors in psychiatric disorders and their potential as a target for therapy. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 404(1-2), 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-2999(00)00581-1</u>
- Mu, Y., & Gage, F. H. (2011). Adult hippocampal neurogenesis and its role in Alzheimer's disease. In (Vol. 6, pp. 85-85): BioMed Central.
- Müller-Schiffmann, A., Herring, A., Abdel-Hafiz, L., Chepkova, A. N., Schäble, S., Wedel, D., Horn, A. H. C., Sticht, H., De Souza Silva, M. A., Gottmann, K., Sergeeva, O. A.,

Huston, J. P., Keyvani, K., & Korth, C. (2018). Amyloid-b dimers in the absence of plaque pathology impair learning and synaptic plasticity. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awv355

- Nakashiba, T., Cushman, J. D., Pelkey, K. A., Renaudineau, S., Buhl, D. L., McHugh, T. J., Barrera, V. R., Chittajallu, R., Iwamoto, K. S., McBain, C. J., Fanselow, M. S., & Tonegawa, S. (2012). Young dentate granule cells mediate pattern separation, whereas old granule cells facilitate pattern completion. *Cell*, 149(1), 188-201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.01.046
- Narboux-Nême, N., Pavone, L. M., Avallone, L., Zhuang, X., & Gaspar, P. (2008). Serotonin transporter transgenic (SERTcre) mouse line reveals developmental targets of serotonin specific reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs). *Neuropharmacology*, 55(6), 994-1005. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROPHARM.2008.08.020</u>
- Nichols, D. E., & Nichols, C. D. (2008). Serotonin receptors. *Chem Rev*, 108(5), 1614-1641. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr0782240
- Oddo, S., Caccamo, A., Shepherd, J. D., Murphy, M. P., Golde, T. E., Kayed, R., Metherate, R., Mattson, M. P., Akbari, Y., & LaFerla, F. M. (2003). Triple-transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease with plaques and tangles: intracellular Abeta and synaptic dysfunction. *Neuron*, 39(3), 409-421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00434-3</u>
- Petrovic, M., Hurt, C., Collins, D., Burns, A., Camus, V., Liperoti, R., Marriott, A., Nobili, F., Robert, P., Tsolaki, M., Vellas, B., Verhey, F., & Byrne, E. J. (2007). Clustering of behavioural and psychological symptoms in dementia (BPSD): A european alzheimer's disease consortium (EADC) study. *Acta Clinica Belgica*, 62(6), 426-432. https://doi.org/10.1179/acb.2007.062
- Platel, J. C., Stamboulian, S., Nguyen, I., & Bordey, A. (2010). Neurotransmitter signaling in postnatal neurogenesis: The first leg. *Brain Research Reviews*, 63(1-2), 60-71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2010.02.004
- Poulos, C. J., Bayer, A., Beaupre, L., Clare, L., Poulos, R. G., Wang, R. H., Zuidema, S., & McGilton, K. S. (2017). A comprehensive approach to reablement in dementia. *Alzheimer's and Dementia: Translational Research and Clinical Interventions*, 3(3), 450-458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trci.2017.06.005</u>
- Ramos-Rodriguez, J. J., Pacheco-Herrero, M., Thyssen, D., Murillo-Carretero, M. I., Berrocoso, E., Spires-Jones, T. L., Bacskai, B. J., & Garcia-Alloza, M. (2013). Rapid beta-amyloid deposition and cognitive impairment after cholinergic denervation in APP/PS1 mice. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 72(4), 272-285. https://doi.org/10.1097/NEN.0b013e318288a8dd
- Rodríguez, J. J., Jones, V. C., Tabuchi, M., Allan, S. M., Knight, E. M., LaFerla, F. M., Oddo, S., & Verkhratsky, A. (2008). Impaired adult neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of a triple transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *PLoS ONE*, 3(8). <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0002935</u>
- Rodríguez, J. J., Jones, V. C., & Verkhratsky, A. (2009). Impaired cell proliferation in the subventricular zone in an Alzheimer's disease model. *Neuroreport*, 20(10), 907-912. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.0B013E32832BE77D</u>
- Rodriguez, J. J., Noristani, H. N., & Verkhratsky, A. (2012). The serotonergic system in ageing and Alzheimer's disease. *Prog Neurobiol*, 99(1), 15-41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2012.06.010

- Rutz, S., Riegert, C., Rothmaier, A. K., Buhot, M. C., Cassel, J. C., & Jackisch, R. (2006). Presynaptic serotonergic modulation of 5-HT and acetylcholine release in the hippocampus and the cortex of 5-HT1B-receptor knockout mice. *Brain research bulletin*, 70(1), 81-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BRAINRESBULL.2006.04.004</u>
- Santarelli, L., Saxe, M., Gross, C., Surget, A., Battaglia, F., Dulawa, S., Weisstaub, N., Lee, J., Duman, R., Arancio, O., Belzung, C., & Hen, R. (2003). Requirement of hippocampal neurogenesis for the behavioral effects of antidepressants. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 301(5634), 805-809. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1083328</u>
- Scheltens, P., De Strooper, B., Kivipelto, M., Holstege, H., Chételat, G., Teunissen, C. E., Cummings, J., & van der Flier, W. M. (2021). Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet (London, England)*, 397(10284), 1577-1590. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32205-4</u>
- Schinder, A. F., & Morgenstern, N. A. (2009). Adult Neurogenesis Is Altered by GABAergic Imbalance in Models of Alzheimer's Disease. *Cell Stem Cell*, 5(6), 573-574. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2009.11.007</u>
- Schiøtt, B. (2016). STRENGTHENING THE FOUNDATION FOR TREATING MENTAL ILLNESS. <u>https://www.carlsbergfondet.dk/en/Forskningsaktiviteter/Research-Projects/Birgit-Schiott_Strengthening-the-foundation-for-treating-mental-illness</u>
- Shankar, G. M., Li, S., Mehta, T. H., Garcia-Munoz, A., Shepardson, N. E., Smith, I., Brett, F. M., Farrell, M. A., Rowan, M. J., Lemere, C. A., Regan, C. M., Walsh, D. M., Sabatini, B. L., & Selkoe, D. J. (2008). Amyloid-β protein dimers isolated directly from Alzheimer's brains impair synaptic plasticity and memory. *Nature Medicine*, *14*(8), 837-842. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1782</u>
- Shruster, A., Melamed, E., & Offen, D. (2010). Neurogenesis in the aged and neurodegenerative brain. *Apoptosis*, 15(11), 1415-1421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10495-010-0491-y</u>
- Shukla, R., Watakabe, A., & Yamamori, T. (2014). MRNA expression profile of serotonin receptor subtypes and distribution of serotonergic terminations in marmoset brain. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits*, 8(MAY), 1-22. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncir.2014.00052
- Sinyor, B., Mineo, J., & Ochner, C. (2020). Alzheimer's Disease, Inflammation, and the Role of Antioxidants. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease Reports*, 4(1), 175-183. https://doi.org/10.3233/adr-200171
- Skelin, I., Kovacevic, T., Sato, H., & Diksic, M. (2012). The opposite effect of a 5-HT1B receptor agonist on 5-HT synthesis, as well as its resistant counterpart, in an animal model of depression. *Brain Res Bull*, 88(5), 477-486. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull.2012.04.009</u>
- Snyder, J. S., Soumier, A., Brewer, M., Pickel, J., & Cameron, H. A. (2011). Adult hippocampal neurogenesis buffers stress responses and depressive behaviour. *Nature*, 476(7361), 458-461. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10287</u>
- Song, N. N., Huang, Y., Yu, X., Lang, B., Ding, Y. Q., & Zhang, L. (2017). Divergent roles of central serotonin in adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 11(June), 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2017.00185</u>
- Song, N. N., Jia, Y. F., Zhang, L., Zhang, Q., Huang, Y., Liu, X. Z., Hu, L., Lan, W., Chen, L., Lesch, K. P., Chen, X., Xu, L., & Ding, Y. Q. (2016). Reducing central serotonin

in adulthood promotes hippocampal neurogenesis. *Scientific reports*, 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/SREP20338

- Song, N. N., Zhang, Q., Huang, Y., Chen, L., Ding, Y. Q., & Zhang, L. (2017). Enhanced dendritic morphogenesis of adult hippocampal newborn neurons in central 5-HTdeficient mice. *Stem cell research*, 19, 6-11. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCR.2016.12.018
- Sperling, R. A., Aisen, P. S., Beckett, L. A., Bennett, D. A., Craft, S., Fagan, A. M., Iwatsubo, T., Jack, C. R., Kaye, J., Montine, T. J., Park, D. C., Reiman, E. M., Rowe, C. C., Siemers, E., Stern, Y., Yaffe, K., Carrillo, M. C., Thies, B., Morrison-Bogorad, M., . . . Phelps, C. H. (2011). Toward defining the preclinical stages of Alzheimer's disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's and Dementia*, 7(3), 280-292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.003
- Stenfors, C., & Ross, S. B. (2002). Evidence for involvement of 5-hydroxytryptamine1B autoreceptors in the enhancement of serotonin turnover in the mouse brain following repeated treatment with fluoxetine. *Life Sciences*, 71(24), 2867-2880. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0024-3205(02)02138-0
- Sun, B., Halabisky, B., Zhou, Y., Palop, J. J., Yu, G., Mucke, L., & Gan, L. (2009). Imbalance between GABAergic and Glutamatergic Transmission Impairs Adult Neurogenesis in an Animal Model of Alzheimer's Disease. *Cell Stem Cell*, 5(6), 624-633. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2009.10.003</u>
- Tajeddinn, W., Persson, T., Maioli, S., Calvo-Garrido, J., Parrado-Fernandez, C., Yoshitake, T., Kehr, J., Francis, P., Winblad, B., Hoglund, K., Cedazo-Minguez, A., & Aarsland, D. (2015). 5-HT1B and other related serotonergic proteins are altered in APPswe mutation. *Neurosci Lett*, *594*, 137-143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2015.03.064</u>
- Takahashi, H., Yoshihara, S., & Tsuboi, A. (2018). The Functional Role of Olfactory Bulb Granule Cell Subtypes Derived From Embryonic and Postnatal Neurogenesis. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 11(July), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2018.00229
- Tashiro, A., Makino, H., & Gage, F. H. (2007). Experience-specific functional modification of the dentate gyrus through adult neurogenesis: a critical period during an immature stage. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 27(12), 3252-3259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4941-</u> 06.2007
- Tatarczynska, E., Klodzinska, A., Stachowicz, K., & Chojnacka-Wojcik, E. (2004). Effects of a selective 5-HT1B receptor agonist and antagonists in animal models of anxiety and depression. *Behav Pharmacol*, 15(8), 523-534. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00008877-200412000-00001</u>
- Terreros-Roncal, J., Moreno-Jimenez, E. P., Flor-Garcia, M., Rodriguez-Moreno, C. B., Trinchero, M. F., Cafini, F., Rabano, A., & Llorens-Martin, M. (2021). Impact of neurodegenerative diseases on human adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Science*, 374(6571), 1106-1113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abl5163</u>
- Tiger, M., Varnäs, K., Okubo, Y., & Lundberg, J. (2018). The 5-HT 1B receptor a potential target for antidepressant treatment. *Psychopharmacology*, 235(5), 1317-1334. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-018-4872-1

- Toda, T., Parylak, S. L., Linker, S. B., & Gage, F. H. (2019). The role of adult hippocampal neurogenesis in brain health and disease. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 24(1), 67-87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-018-0036-2</u>
- Valero, J., España, J., Parra-Damas, A., Martín, E., Rodríguez-Álvarez, J., & Saura, C. A. (2011). Short-term environmental enrichment rescues adult neurogenesis and memory deficits in APPSw,Ind transgenic mice. *PLoS ONE*, 6(2), 29-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0016832</u>
- Van Erum, J., Van Dam, D., & De Deyn, P. P. (2018). Sleep and Alzheimer's disease: A pivotal role for the suprachiasmatic nucleus. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 40, 17-27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2017.07.005
- van Gerresheim, E. F., Herring, A., Gremer, L., Muller-Schiffmann, A., Keyvani, K., & Korth, C. (2021). The interaction of insoluble Amyloid-beta with soluble Amyloidbeta dimers decreases Amyloid-beta plaque numbers. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol*, 47(5), 603-610. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nan.12685</u>
- Verret, L., Jankowsky, J. L., Xu, G. M., Borchelt, D. R., & Rampon, C. (2007). Alzheimer'stype amyloidosis in transgenic mice impairs survival of newborn neurons derived from adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27(25), 6771-6780. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5564-06.2007
- Wang, B., Wang, Z., Sun, L., Yang, L., Li, H., Cole, A. L., Rodriguez-Rivera, J., Lu, H. C., & Zheng, H. (2014). The amyloid precursor protein controls adult hippocampal neurogenesis through GABAergic interneurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(40), 13314-13325. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2848-14.2014</u>
- Wen, P. H., Hof, P. R., Chen, X., Gluck, K., Austin, G., Younkin, S. G., Younkin, L. H., DeGasperi, R., Gama Sosa, M. A., Robakis, N. K., Haroutunian, V., & Elder, G. A. (2004). The presenilin-1 familial Alzheimer disease mutant P117L impairs neurogenesis in the hippocampus of adult mice. *Experimental Neurology*, 188(2), 224-237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2004.04.002</u>
- Winner, B., & Winkler, J. (2015). Adult neurogenesis in neurodegenerative diseases. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 7(4). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a021287
- Wirths, O. (2017). Altered neurogenesis in mouse models of Alzheimer disease. *Neurogenesis*, 4(1), e1327002-e1327002. https://doi.org/10.1080/23262133.2017.1327002
- Yang, Y., Zhang, L., Yu, J., Ma, Z., Li, M., Wang, J., Hu, P., Zou, J., Liu, X., Liu, Y., An, S., Xiang, C., Guo, X., Hao, Q., & Xu, T. R. (2021). A Novel 5-HT(1B) Receptor Agonist of Herbal Compounds and One of the Therapeutic Uses for Alzheimer's Disease. *Front Pharmacol*, 12, 735876. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.735876</u>
- Yau, S. Y., Gil-Mohapel, J., Christie, B. R., & So, K. F. (2014). Physical exercise-induced adult neurogenesis: a good strategy to prevent cognitive decline in neurodegenerative diseases? *Biomed Res Int*, 2014, 403120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/403120</u>
- Yetman, M. J., & Jankowsky, J. L. (2013). Wild-type neural progenitors divide and differentiate normally in an amyloid-rich environment. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(44), 17335-17341. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1917-13.2013</u>
- Yu, Y., He, J., Zhang, Y., Luo, H., Zhu, S., Yang, Y., Zhao, T., Wu, J., Huang, Y., Kong, J., Tan, Q., & Li, X. M. (2009). Increased hippocampal neurogenesis in the progressive

stage of Alzheimer's disease phenotype in an APP/PS1 double transgenic mouse model. *Hippocampus*, 19(12), 1247-1253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/HIPO.20587</u>

- Zaletel, I., Schwirtlich, M., Perović, M., Jovanović, M., Stevanović, M., Kanazir, S., & Puškaš, N. (2018). Early Impairments of Hippocampal Neurogenesis in 5xFAD Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease Are Associated with Altered Expression of SOXB Transcription Factors. J Alzheimers Dis, 65(3), 963-976. https://doi.org/10.3233/jad-180277
- Ziabreva, I., Perry, E., Perry, R., Minger, S. L., Ekonomou, A., Przyborski, S., & Ballard, C. (2006). Altered neurogenesis in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of psychosomatic research*, 61(3), 311-316. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JPSYCHORES.2006.07.017</u>

Danksagung

An dieser Stelle möchte ich mich herzlich bedanken. Durch die großzügige Unterstützung meiner Doktormutter, Frau Professorin von Gall, und die Möglichkeit, an Ihrem Institut zu promovieren, durfte ich eine äußerst bereichernde akademische Reise erleben. Ihr Engagement für meine wissenschaftliche Entwicklung und die ermutigende Atmosphäre in Ihrem Team haben entscheidend zum Gelingen meiner Dissertation beigetragen.

Herrn Professor Korth möchte ich besonders für seine wissenschaftliche Unterstützung danken. Die fachkundige Anleitung und Unterstützung haben meine Dissertation auf eine neue Ebene gehoben.

Mein besonderer Dank gilt Frau Doktor Amira Ali. Ihre unermüdliche Bereitschaft, zu jeder Tageszeit für mich erreichbar zu sein und mir mit Rat und Tat zur Seite zu stehen, war für mich von unschätzbarem Wert. Ohne ihre aufmunternden Worte, ihre fachliche Expertise und ihre Freundschaft wäre der Weg zur Fertigstellung meiner Dissertation nicht möglich gewesen.

Mein herzlicher Dank gilt auch Frau Angelika Hallenberger, Frau Ursula Lammersen und Frau Hanna Bellert. Ihre technische Unterstützung im Labor hat wesentlich zum reibungslosen Ablauf meiner Forschung beigetragen. Die Zusammenarbeit mit ihnen war immer eine Freude.

Ein großes Dankeschön gilt auch meiner Familie, deren stetige Unterstützung für mich ein fester Rückhalt war. Ihr Zuspruch und ihre Liebe haben mir die Kraft gegeben, die Herausforderungen des Promotionsprozesses zu meistern.